Religions and Development Research Programme

## The Women's Land Rights Movement, Customary Law and Religion in Tanzania

**Bernadeta Killian,** University of Dar es Salaam

Working Paper 57-2011



### Religions and Development

### **Research Programme**

The Religions and Development Research Programme Consortium is an international research partnership that is exploring the relationships between several major world religions, development in low-income countries and poverty reduction. The programme is comprised of a series of comparative research projects that are addressing the following questions:

- How do religious values and beliefs drive the actions and interactions of individuals and faith-based organisations?
- How do religious values and beliefs and religious organisations influence the relationships between states and societies?
- In what ways do faith communities interact with development actors and what are the outcomes with respect to the achievement of development goals?

The research aims to provide knowledge and tools to enable dialogue between development partners and contribute to the achievement of development goals. We believe that our role as researchers is not to make judgements about the truth or desirability of particular values or beliefs, nor is it to urge a greater or lesser role for religion in achieving development objectives. Instead, our aim is to produce systematic and reliable knowledge and better understanding of the social world.

The research focuses on four countries (India, Pakistan, Nigeria and Tanzania), enabling the research team to study most of the major world religions: Christianity, Islam, Hinduism, Sikhism, Buddhism and African traditional belief systems. The research projects will compare two or more of the focus countries, regions within the countries, different religious traditions and selected development activities and policies.

The consortium consists of six research partner organisations, each of which is working with other researchers in the four focus countries:

- University of Birmingham, UK: International Development Department, Department of Theology and Religion, Centre for West African Studies, Centre for the Study of Global Ethics.
- University of Bath, UK: Centre for Development Studies.
- Indian Institute of Dalit Studies, New Delhi.
- Nigerian Institute of Social and Economic Research, Ibadan.
- University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
- Lahore University of Management Sciences, Pakistan.

In addition to the research partners, links have been forged with non-academic and non-government bodies, including Islamic Relief.

## Religions and Development Working Paper 57

# The Women's Land Rights Movement, Customary Law and Religion in Tanzania

Bernadeta Killian,

University of Dar es Salaam

ISBN: 978 0 7044 2873 7

© International Development Department, University of Birmingham



This document is an output from a project funded by UK Aid from the UK Department for International Development (DFID) for the benefit of developing countries. The views expressed are not necessarily those of DFID.



Working Paper 57



### Contents

Sum	nmary	1
List	of acronyms/glossary	4
1	Introduction and background to the study	5
	1.1 The main objective	5
	1.2 The women's land rights movement	5
	1.3 Religion in Tanzania	8
	1.4 Research questions and methodology	10
2	Women's land rights and the evolution of the customary land tenure system	12
	2.1 The pre-colonial period	12
	2.2 The colonial period	13
	2.3 Independence and the Ujamaa period	15
	2.4 The end of the <i>Ujamaa</i> period	18
3	Women's activism, religion and the state: a historical account	21
	3.1 Women's activism in the pre-independence period	21
	3.2 Women's activism during single-party rule	22
	3.3 Women's activism during the multi-party period	23
4	The women's land rights movement of the 1990s: strategies and tactics	27
	4.1 Legal reform and land rights	27
	4.2 The beginnings of the women's land rights movement	29
	4.3 The women's land rights movement and its engagement with religious	
	organizations	35
	4.4 The women's land rights movement and its interpretation of 'customary law'	38
5	The struggle for women's land rights and its outcomes	44
6	Conclusions	46
Арр	Appendix 1: List of interviews	
Note	es	49
Refe	References	

Key words: gender, Islam, Muslim, Christian



### Acknowledgements

This study was undertaken with the assistance of Fatuma Bapumia, Jacqueline Mgumia and Jacob Lisakafu.



### Summary

Religion is often seen as either a means of achieving or an obstacle to lasting social change, for example, improvements in gender equality. In practice, what role has it played in recent movements for social change in developing countries? In particular, how has the women's movement engaged with religion, with what outcomes? In Africa, women's disadvantaged access to land has been an important concern of many women's movements. This study examined whether and how the women's movement that campaigned for improvements to proposed land legislation in the 1990s in Tanzania engaged with religious beliefs and organizations.

Like many ex-colonial countries, at independence in 1961 Tanzania inherited a plural legal system including customary law and practices, Islamic personal law for Muslims and a statutory legal system introduced by the colonial powers (influenced especially by the English common law system). Termed a legal 'stew' or 'quagmire', the Tanzanian government has tried ever since to reform the system in order to achieve development objectives while keeping effective control in the hands of the state. However, by the time political and economic liberalization occurred at the beginning of the 1990s, the legal and administrative system governing land was full of contradictions, ambiguities and inconsistencies. The government announced its intention to reform land law and its administration, establishing a commission of enquiry to review the existing system and identify necessary changes. Two alliances of NGOs formed to lobby for the needs of disadvantaged groups to be addressed in the proposed legislation: the National Land Forum (NALAF) and the Gender Land Task Force (GLTF). The latter was particularly concerned with the ways in which existing laws discriminated against women, exacerbated by changes in agricultural production and pressure on land. Campaigning focused on the draft Land Bill, which eventually was split into two Acts: the Land Act no. 4 and the Village Land Act no. 5, both of 1999.

Between 2008 and 2009, a research team based at the University of Dar es Salaam reviewed available material on the issues involved, the draft Bill and the final legislation, and reports produced by the two alliances and their member NGOs; interviewed fifteen women activists, including many of the individuals most centrally involved in the GLTF; and interviewed representatives from five of the religious organizations that were drawn into the campaign.



Because rural land is still governed mainly by customary law and practice, the campaign adopted a rights-based approach, focused on ensuring that the constitutional principle of gender equality was incorporated in the new legislation and applied to customary as well as statutory law. They lobbied successfully to include clauses

- ensuring women's equal rights to use, occupy and control land
- safeguarding married, widowed and divorced women's rights through a requirement that certificates of occupancy are put in the names of both spouses, and
- providing for women's representation in village level bodies with land-related responsibilities.

Although some of the demands of the land rights campaigners were not met, the GLTF saw their campaign as successful. Its success was attributed to the organizational capacity, professional skills (especially in law) and distinctive contributions made by the Dar es Salaam-based NGOs that worked together in the GLTF.

Religion entered the picture (or did not) in a variety of ways:

- In Africa, customary beliefs and practices, including those relating to land, are often seen as having a spiritual dimension (often labelled African traditional religion/s). However, Tanzanians see them as custom and culture rather than religion, so campaigning for reforms to (or, by some, the abolition of) customary tenure was not seen as having a religious dimension.
- Islamic laws on property ownership and inheritance specify men's and women's entitlements, and are available to Muslims in Tanzania, although they are not always used. The women's land rights movement chose not to tackle gender inequality in Islamic law, to avoid antagonizing Muslims.
- Although almost all Tanzanians are either Christian or Muslim, GLTF members did not claim a specific religious motivation for their involvement, avoided the use of religious discourse, and accommodated diverse religious and cultural needs (e.g. accepting that some women are in polygamous marriages despite the disapproval of the Christian churches), to ensure wide support for the campaign.
- Civil society Organizations (CSOs) are prohibited from engaging in active politics in Tanzania, so the women's land rights movement had to negotiate a delicate political terrain. No religious organizations joined the GLTF, although during the campaign some, notably the Roman Catholic church (the Tanzania Episcopal Conference), the Christian Council of Tanzania (an umbrella organization of the Protestant



churches) and, to a lesser extent, the Evangelical Lutheran Church and BAKWATA (the main Muslim umbrella organization), helped to publicize the issues amongst their members to generate public support for GLTF's demands.

Implementation of the Acts is arguably beyond the capacity of the legal and governmental system and has been very slow. Although NALAF continues to organize an annual meeting, in the last ten years the organizations involved in the 1990s campaign have tended to pursue their own specific programmes and little evidence on the outcomes and effects of the legislation for women's land rights is available.

The Tanzanian research demonstrates that the ways in which social movements engage with religion depend on the local religious, cultural and political context, as well as the issue of concern. It also indicates that religious organizations can act as facilitators rather than obstacles to campaigns to improve women's land rights.



### List of acronyms

BAKWATA	National Muslim Council of Tanzania
BAWATA	National Women's Council of Tanzania
ССМ	Chama Cha Mapinduzi (formerly TANU)
ССТ	Christian Council of Tanzania
CSO	Civil society organization
ELCT	Evangelical Lutheran Church of Tanzania
GLTF	Gender Land Task Force (also KIKUHAHI)
JET	Journalists' Environmental Association of Tanzania
KIKUHAHI	Kikosi cha Kuketea Haki ua Ardhi Kijinsia
LHRC	Law and Human Rights Research Centre
NALAF	National Land Forum
NOCHU	National Organization for Children, Welfare and Human Relief
PINGOs	Pastoralist Indigenous Non-Governmental Organizations' Forum
TEC	Tanzania Episcopal Conference (Roman Catholic)
TGNP	Tanzania Gender Networking Programme
TAHEA	Tanzania Home Economics Association
TANU	Tanganyika Africa National Union
TAMWA	Tanzanian Media Women's Association
TAWLA	Tanzania Women Lawyers Association
WAT	Women's Advancement Trust
WLAC	Women's Legal Aid Centre
WRDP	Women's Research and Documentation Project Association
UWT	Umoja wa Wanawake Tanganyika (Women Union of Tanzania)



### 1 Introduction and background to the study

### 1.1 The main objective

The main objective of this study was to investigate the extent to which the women's land rights movement in Tanzania in the 1990s 'engaged with religion', by mobilizing the support of religious organizations, invoking religious values and teachings in pursuit of its goals, and/or openly critiquing religious traditions where they were perceived to stand in the way of the movement's aims. The study is part of a larger comparative research project involving studies in India, Nigeria and Tanzania, which had the aim of gaining a deeper understanding of the way religion facilitates, inspires or hinders social movements. This is significant from a development perspective since, compared to external interventions, indigenous social organizations and movements often have the potential to generate the lasting progressive social changes that are required to improve wellbeing. In many contexts, religious organizations are important social bodies with potential mobilizing power, authority and wide networks, but there is a perception that they more often oppose social change.

This research aimed to assess when and under what circumstances religious organizations support or obstruct movements for social change, as well as to gain a better understanding of the ways in which social movements attempt to engage with religious teachings and actors in order to further their goals. While a range of social issues have stimulated social movement activity, a key social problem that has prompted individuals to coalesce in social movements across the globe, and which also has a particular significance with respect to religion, is gender inequality. On the one hand, religious traditions and institutions are well known for their unequal treatment of men and women, as well as their opposition to various 'feminist' or women's agendas that aim to bring about equality and equity (e.g. in the sphere of reproductive rights). On the other hand, central to all religious traditions is a belief in fairness and human dignity and often religious traditions are important sources of ideas and support for movements that campaign against abuses of human rights, including those of women. A focus on gender and social movements is, therefore, both timely and relevant in different developing countries. For this study, a salient issue around which the women's movement had recently mobilized in each country was selected for study.

### 1.2 The women's land rights movement

In Tanzania, one of the issues on which the women's movement has recently campaigned is the question of women's access to land, with the women's land rights movement focusing on legal



change as a first stage in facilitating broader social change related to women's ability to own and inherit land within the confines of the prevailing religious and cultural systems. Following campaigns in which the women's movement participated, two new pieces of legislation were passed in 1999, both of which have a bearing on women's ability to acquire, hold, use and deal in land: the Land Act no. 4 of 1999 and the Village Land Act no. 5 of 1999.<sup>1</sup> Amongst other things, these acts seek to override customary law if it denies women their right to use, transfer and own land and to achieve a gender balance with respect to participation in land administration and decision making. Moreover, the Acts protect married women's right of co-occupancy - such a spousal co-occupancy clause exists today only in Tanzania and South Africa (Tripp, 2004).

Women's engagement in the struggle for land rights must be seen in the light of the importance of land to the majority of people in Tanzania and the implications of this for women. More than 85 per cent of Tanzanian livelihoods depend on agriculture for subsistence and income and women are key producers of food, providing between 60 and 80 per cent of the labour required for farming activities in the country (Kameri-Mbote, 1992). According to the 2000/01 Household Budget Survey, 63 per cent of women in Tanzania claim that agriculture is their main activity (URT, 2002). Only a small number of land parcels are registered under statutory law, with an issued title, and most of these are in urban areas. In rural areas, the majority of land holdings are held and managed under customary land tenure (Kironde, 2009, p 12). Access to land for most women in the country is therefore primarily governed by ideas and practices related to customary forms of tenure, which are discussed in more depth in Section 2. However, these tend to discriminate against women with respect to the ownership and control of land (the existence of legislation to protect women's rights notwithstanding). Customary practices can be written or "unwritten social rules and structures of a community derived from shared values and based on tradition" (Kameri-Mbote, 2006, p 11). On the Tanzanian mainland, about 80 per cent of rural communities are patrilineal, with succession passing along the male line (URT, 1994; Tsikata, 2001; Lugoe, 2007), and women tend to access land largely through men, as "daughters, wives, mothers, dependent widows and divorcees" (Ikdahl et al, 2005, p 37).

The predominance and persistence of customary land tenure practices is favoured by Tanzania's pluralist legal system. Like other African countries that went through colonialism, at independence Tanzania inherited a pluralist legal system in which "a 'legal stew' of European laws [had been]



superimposed upon or [were] existing concurrently with indigenous systems of customary and religious law" (Calaguas et al, 2007, p 475).<sup>2</sup> Amongst the many inconsistencies and contradictions between the different bodies of law, "legal pluralism provides for different norms to be applied to different persons in the same situation" (ibid, p 476). The problems were compounded by state administrative actions. It is this problematic situation that led to the 1990s attempt at a systematic overhaul of the system, the results of which were embodied in the 1999 Acts, although many earlier pieces of legislation remain in force, so the legal framework is still confused and complex.

Customary law, Islamic law and statutory law are all used by individuals, families and communities to regulate access to land, tenure and transfers, and also by the judicial and administrative systems as they attempt to resolve disputes and achieve government objectives. As noted above, there are many inconsistencies and contradictions, not only between but also within the different legal systems. For example, the 1999 legislation contains a proviso that customary law should be utilized only when it does not conflict with statutory law and the Constitution (especially gender equality), but it is not clear how this is supposed to be operationalized. "Islamic law is applicable to Muslims...in matters of succession in communities that generally follow Islamic law in matters of personal status and inheritance" (Nyanduga and Manning, 2006).<sup>3</sup> However, in practice, matters of land rights and inheritance are negotiated, with great variety in the law called upon. In practice, many Muslim families and communities use customary law rather than Muslim law. Individuals are free to seek justice using any body of law. Thus in theory, if women feel discriminated against by Islamic or customary law, they can seek redress under state law (and judges are supposed to use state law to settle cases where Islamic or customary law is less equitable) (Rwezaura, 1995). In addition, on the Tanzanian mainland, in cases of conflict between customary law and Islamic law, the former takes precedence (Legal brief Africa, 2004, p 1).

It is frequently claimed that the clear rules regarding inheritance in Muslim law protect women, especially widows, better than other systems, although the shares to which they are entitled are smaller than those of male relatives (Brown, 2001). In addition, in Tanzania, Muslim law is often not followed, leaving many women without property (Maoulidi, 2006). Nevertheless, for complex political, cultural and strategic reasons discussed below, the women's land rights movement did not seek to challenge Islamic law. Instead, it concentrated on customary law, which is also sometimes argued to



be inextricably linked to religion, in this case 'traditional religion' (Odgaard, 2002). What does this apparently selective critical engagement with different forms of religion tell us about understandings of 'religion' in contemporary Tanzania? To begin to answer this question it is necessary to look at the nature of religious affiliation in Tanzania, which suggests that 'traditional religion' is not viewed as a 'religion' in the same way as Islam or Christianity.

#### 1.3 Religion in Tanzania

Tanzanians are highly religious: according to a 2009 study carried out by the Pew Research Center Forum on Religion and Public Life, 93 per cent of the 1,504 Tanzanians interviewed said that religion is very important in their lives, making Tanzania the second most religious of the 19 countries surveyed in Africa. The proportion of Christians and Muslims in the country is controversial. According to the 1967 census, 32 per cent of the population was Christian, 31 per cent Muslim and 37 per cent followers of African traditional religions (Masanja and Lawi, 2006, p 98). Because of the dangers of religious competition, the question has not been asked in any subsequent census, although according to the National Demographic Survey (1973), 39 per cent was Christian, 40 per cent Muslim and 21 per cent followers of traditional religion (ibid, p 98). The emerging trend has intensified subsequently, with a sample survey carried out by the Department of Political Science of the University of Dar es Salaam in 2000 showing that 46 per cent of the 850 people interviewed identified themselves as Muslim, 48 per cent as Christian and only 1 per cent as followers of traditional religion (Masanja and Lawi, 2006, p 98). In the most recent survey, 60 per cent of respondents identified themselves as Muslim, 36 per cent as Christian and 2 per cent as followers of traditional religion (Pew Forum, 2010, p 69). Clearly traditional religion no longer competes for 'religious space' with Islam or Christianity in contemporary Tanzania.

There are an estimated 120 ethnic groups in Tanzania, distinguished by specific socio-cultural characteristics. Overall, however, there are commonalities in the belief systems of all the African ethnic groups, including beliefs associated with so-called African Traditional Religion (or religions) (ATR). ATRs tend to share five fundamental beliefs, namely, belief in a supreme being, belief in lesser gods, belief in spirits (including ancestral spirits), belief in ritual sacrifice and belief in the power of magic and medicine (Kayode and Adelowo, 1985; Lawi and Masanja, 2006; Mbiti, 1969; Mhina, 2006).



In practice, while most Tanzanians identify themselves as being Muslim or Christian, the majority also practise traditional or customary religion.

In the 2000 study, when asked whether they practise traditional rituals, 29 per cent of respondents affirmed that they do perform some, and over half believed that traditional practices continued in their area (Masanja and Lawi, 2006, p 99). Even respondents who identified themselves as leaders of ATR often claim to be followers of the organized religions. Of those interviewed, 312 claimed to be leaders of ATR, referring to "leadership in administering family or local community rituals" (Masanja and Lawi, 2006, p 102). While 38 per cent claimed that they only practised traditional rituals, 21 per cent said that they were Catholics, 11 per cent identified themselves as Ahmadiyya Muslims, 7 per cent as Sunni Muslims and 7 per cent as Lutherans (ibid, p 102).

The Pew survey asked respondents whether they follow eleven specific beliefs and rituals associated with traditional religion. 62 per cent of Tanzanian respondents acknowledged agreement or engagement with six of more of these beliefs or practices, interpreted as exhibiting a high level of commitment to traditional religion (the highest proportion amongst all the African countries in which the survey was carried out) (Pew Forum, 2010, p 34).

While the findings of surveys like these need to be probed in greater depth, they demonstrate that in contemporary Tanzania traditional beliefs and practices are no longer seen by most people as alternatives to the world religions. As Masanja and Lawi (2006, p 76) put it

In Tanzania...people generally use the Kiswahili word "dini", which is borrowing from the Arabic "din", to refer to organized religions such as Islam and Christianity. Our own research has shown that rural Tanzanians seldom refer to their traditional ritual practices and religious beliefs as ATRs or, in Kiswahili, *dini za jadi.* They are instead more comfortable referring to these practices and beliefs as traditional customs or *mila na denture asilia.* 

However, it is also clear that such beliefs and practices maintain a strong hold over the cosmology and ritual practices of many Tanzanians, whose belief systems are highly syncretic.



#### 1.4 Research questions and methodology

The women's movement aimed to ensure that the drafting and implementation of the new laws expanded women's rights to own land. Because there are few state courts in rural areas, people's legal knowledge is limited, and the process of pursuing justice through the courts is slow and bureaucratic, customary land tenure practices that govern property relations between men and women continue to be widely used and disputes are generally settled informally. Because customary law, which disadvantages women, continues to be recognized, there is still some way to go in ensuring that women are able to use the new land acts to protect their rights. This research focussed on the period leading up to the enactment of the Land and Village Land Acts of 1999 and sought to specifically understand the ways in which the land rights movement engaged with religion. It does not address the question of what role the women's movement has played in the implementation of the Acts since1999, although this could be followed up in future research.

The main research questions were:

- 1. In its struggle for women's land rights, has the women's movement in Tanzania engaged with religious organizations?
- 2. To what extent did the movement openly critique religious traditions if they were perceived to stand in the way of the movement's aims?
- 3. How have religious values and practices influenced actors within the women's land rights movement in Tanzania? Did religious values ever inspire women or underpin their arguments and strategies?

The study was conducted in two phases between 2008 and 2009. Data was collected through documentary review, including various reports of the member organizations of the women's land rights movement and acts of parliament related to land, and semi-structured interviews. Interviews were carried out with selected respondents from civil society organizations (CSOs), academicians and religious leaders (see Appendix 1). Many of the respondents were women activists who had participated in the struggle for women's land rights in the 1990s. Members of religious organizations with links with the women's land rights movement were also interviewed.

The report proceeds as follows. Section two looks at women's land rights and the evolution of customary land tenure practices. This will be followed by an historical account of women's activism in



Tanzania. Section four analyzes the nature of the struggles by the women's land rights movement of the 1990s and the ways religion was mobilized. The outcome of the struggle in bringing about social change for development will be assessed in Section five. The last section will draw out some conclusions of the study and explore their implications.



# 2 Women's land rights and the evolution of the customary land tenure system

### 2.1 The pre-colonial period

The evolution of the women's land rights movement in Tanzania needs to be understood in the context of the land tenure system in Tanzania since pre-colonial times. The historical account clearly shows that customary land tenure practices, colonialism and the state-led policies of the post-independence government, as well as economic liberalization, have all affected women's land rights.

In pre-colonial African societies, land was communally owned and vested in the family or clan. Land ownership was conceptualized in collective rather than individual terms. Chiefs or headmen were in charge of the land on behalf of all clan members. The role of chiefs as custodians of land was similar in both patrilineal and matrilineal communities (Koda, 1998, p 198). At the core of African land tenure is what James and Fimbo (1973) refer to as the principle of the non-alienability of land. African land tenure systems are complex because they entail a range of relationships, not only between humans, but also between humans and their physical and spiritual environment. As James and Fimbo point out in Africa, and particularly in Tanzania, land is more than just property, and land tenure rules form a part of the whole complex of culture. Thus, tenure rules are informed by the need to protect groups in relation to specific areas of land. Each family, clan, or wider community has its corpus of law which is directed towards maintaining the interests of that unit against outsiders and defining the rights and duties of all within the group" (James and Fimbo, 1973, p 6). Thus while used by individuals, land is really owned by a community, which is defined as comprising those who are dead, those who are alive and those who are yet to be born (ibid, p 8). Three types of land can be distinguished: clan, family and self-acquired land. Whereas under traditional systems of land tenure, clan land is vested in the clan, family land is a piece of land that in the past individuals of the same family lineage had rights to. Selfacquired land is a piece of land that has been obtained through the efforts of an individual or family (James and Fimbo, 1973; Manji, 1998).

The essence of customary law in land ownership is that inheritance is largely along the male line, with boys in a family regarded and brought up as future fathers and girls expected to get married and leave the family (Mbilinyi, 1972).<sup>4</sup> By bequeathing land to male heirs, clan and family land is protected from being transferred to outsiders – if a woman were to inherit such land, there is a fear that she might pass it to another clan upon her marriage, enabling her husband to control the affairs of her clan, of which he is not a member (Carr, 2003, p 9). Thus if a family has male members, widows and



daughters cannot inherit family or clan land or, traditionally, a house or household property, other than what is defined as belonging to them (e.g. cooking pots). In the allocation and inheritance of land, first sons are highly favoured, receiving the largest share of land, followed by other sons and ultimately daughters, who get the smallest portion. The latter can only inherit the self-acquired property of their deceased father. Widows traditionally receive nothing and have to rely on their children to take care of them. Women generally only have usufruct rights to land, that is, they can work on land without rights to own or bequeath it. There is no doubt that in customary law, widows, divorced women and female children are discriminated against in matters of inheritance (ibid).

However, the application of customary law on land tenure has evolved over time. During pre-colonial times, land was abundant and, hence, despite the fact that women could not inherit clan land, in certain ethnic groups women had security of tenure as users and occupiers. Given the abundance of fertile land, all clan members, regardless of sex, could clear the bush for cultivation without many restrictions, and non-clan members could seek permission from a local chief to do likewise, hence acquiring limited rights of use (Koda, 1998; Koponen, 1991). Because land was available, "anyone with energy to do so could obtain land simply by clearing it or establishing woodlot, grazing area or watering point, provided the person had the permission of the clan head, the lineage authority" (Kauzeni et al, 1998, p 75). Also, in certain areas of Tanzania, for instance, among the patrilineal Pare of Kilimanjaro region, women had both use and control rights over small plots around the homestead. A father could give such a piece of land to his daughter on her marriage and she was entitled to use it and later pass it to her own daughter (Tsikata, 2001). As Marjorie Mbilinyi, Professor of Development Studies and activist, pointed out "…historically, in pre-colonial societies, the family would ensure that a sister, daughter or an auntie has a piece of land to farm" (interview, 25<sup>th</sup> September, 2009, Dar es Salaam).

### 2.2 The colonial period

Women's limited rights were, however, eroded by agrarian changes brought about by colonialism and post-independence policies and programmes. These changes made it increasingly difficult not only for women to inherit clan land, but also for them to even enjoy the limited use rights that they had had in the past. Colonialist agrarian policies and laws put constraints on the use of land and disrupted customary land tenure, leading to pressure on land.



In 1895, the German administration (1891-1914) instituted a decree that declared all land crown land vested in the Empire (Tsikata, 2003). Land owned under local custom and tradition was regarded by the colonial powers as 'unowned land' and was subject to expropriation. Both the German and British colonial governments confiscated large areas of land, much of which was given to European settlers. The concept of individualized ownership was introduced for European settlers, but was not applied to the indigenous population (Lugoe, 2007). In this system, documentary evidence was required as proof of title, and many Africans who held land under customary land tenure lacked such evidence (James and Fimbo, 1973, p 31). As Lugoe writes, "...by 1914, some 1.3 million acres of fertile lands in the northern highlands and the coast Districts had been alienated" from the African natives to European settlers (2007, p 6). During the British administration (1922-1961) the land alienation policy continued. As with the German administration, all land - both occupied and unoccupied - was declared to be 'public land' under the control of the Governor (Land Tenure Ordinance of 1923). Using the 1923 Land Tenure Ordinance, a total of 3.5 million acres were alienated from African natives to settlers (Lugoe, 2007, p 7).

In 1928, the Land Ordinance of 1923 was revised to include statutory recognition of community 'ownership' of land under customary law. However, this 'right of occupancy' by indigenous people was merely 'permissive', meaning that Africans were allowed the right to use but not to legally own land. Thus the Act did not establish any rights against the colonial government and no provision was made for the issue of documentary title. In practice, the interests of foreign settlers and planters were given priority and when deemed necessary, customary rights of occupancy over a piece of land were extinguished (Fimbo, 1992, p 66). The Land Ordinance specifically stated that "all native lands and all rights over the same are hereby declared to be under the control and subject to the disposition of the Governor....The Governor was entitled to grant rights of occupancy to natives or non-natives as he deemed it fit" (section 4 of the Ordinance, James and Fimbo, 1973, p 33). In 1953, the colonial government issued Circular no. 4 declaring that in all urban areas, customary law ceased to exist once an area was declared a township, municipality or minor settlement. Further directives were issued regarding areas the colonial government defined as reserved and preserved lands for forests or game. Once declared to be reserved or preserved land, such land ceased to be governed by customary land tenure rules.



The colonial government also encouraged indigenous producers to engage in commercial agriculture, especially for export. It was assumed that this would be the responsibility of men, and encouraged by a requirement for men to pay taxes. Domestic production, it was intended, would remain the responsibility of women, although their labour was also required to assist with commercial and livestock production. Changes to customary tenure practices resulted, with the need and desire to engage in commercial production strengthening men's attempts to assert their claims over land (see, for example, Becker, 2008). All these changes created new relationships between local communities and their natural resources, particularly land. Men and clan headmen became more protective of what was left to them and in turn further limited women's access to land (Koda, 1998), although some analysts stress that the picture should not be over-simplified, with evidence that many women continued to achieve secure access to land because of the balance between rights and obligations enshrined in customary law and practice (see Odgaard, 2002, 2005; Yngstrom, 2002).

### 2.3 Independence and the Ujamaa period

Following independence in 1961, there was a short period of multi-party politics.<sup>5</sup> However, by July 1965, a single-party system had been adopted in which the Tanganyika Africa National Union (TANU) was elevated to the legal status of being the only political party in the country and all other political parties were forced to disappear from the political scene. This move was accompanied by a ban on all independent associations, such as trade unions, farmers' cooperative unions, student unions and the media. Furthermore, the newly independent state was secular, which set limits on how social groups could mobilize and organize. Not only was Tanzania's new constitution modelled on those of more developed countries, competition between Muslims and Christians was seen as potentially dangerous and divisive. According to the Tanzanian constitution, religion is considered as the "private affair of an individual citizen." Article 19 (2) of the constitution states that "without prejudice to the relevant laws of the United Republic, the profession of religion, worship and propagation of religion shall be free and private affair of an individual; and the affairs and management of religious bodies shall not be part of the activities of the state authority" (1977 Constitution of the Union Republic of Tanzania). Following this, any mobilization along religious lines was severely suppressed.

The role of a pre-eminent secular state was strongly promoted and defended. In 1963, the chieftainship was abolished through the Chiefs (Abolition of Office) Act. Also, the separate court



system that existed prior to independence was abolished.<sup>6</sup> Laws and the court system had been organized along ethnic, racial and religious lines, with the majority African population having their own native courts, Muslims having Kadhi courts and Europeans and Asians having so-called 'superior courts'. Instead, in 1963 a single court system was established, ranging from primary courts to the high court (Makaramba, 2006, p 274, 362). Moreover, many of the Christian-owned schools that had been established by missionaries were nationalized and made to cater for Muslims and children of other religions, and major church hospitals were also nationalized in 1971 (Mhina, 2007, p 9). It is in this context of this process of establishing the pre-eminence of the state in economic development, service delivery and politics that the East Africa Muslim Welfare Society (EAMWS) was banned in 1968 (Tambila, 2006, p 181).

Regarding land tenure, however, colonial land tenure policies remained more or less in place and were absorbed by the newly emergent state, which by 1965 monopolized both political and economic spheres. The word 'Governor' was merely replaced by the word 'President' in the new constitution. All rights of land ownership, 'the radical title', were transferred to the President of the United Republic of Tanzania, meaning that "no title to the occupation and use of any such lands shall be valid without the consent of the president" (URT, 1994, p 19).<sup>7</sup> The President, as custodian of all land on behalf of the people, can expropriate any land in the public interest, including land owned by individual citizens under customary law. The legal regime was designed in such a way that it empowered the President legal moves to regulate and acquire land. For example, the Range Development and Management Act of 1964 led to the acquisition of certain areas that were turned into selected development areas, and the Land Tenure (Village Settlements) Act of 1965 empowered the Commissioner for Village Settlements and deal with property.

During the same period, women's vulnerability in land ownership in Tanzania was increased by the codification of customary practices under the Customary Law (Declaration) Order No. 436 of 1963. This law sought to codify and simplify customary law, whereas before it had been unwritten and varied from place to place and over time. It deals only with patrilineal societies and is the interpretation of customary law on which the courts draw when dealing with rural land disputes (Rwebangira, 1996), although the customary practices that are followed in the allocation, use and transfer of land are much



more varied and flexible than is reflected in the Order. The Order provides rules of inheritance that aim to bring about uniformity, to safeguard the immediate family as the key institution of society, by protecting the rights of the deceased's immediate family descendants, with other relatives only being accorded succession rights in default of an immediate family (Rwebangira, 1996). Rule 26 recognizes both female and male children as heirs of their father's property, stating that: "If the deceased left sons, or sons and daughters, these will inherit all his property exclusively." However, daughters are not treated equally to sons. According to Rule 20 a woman cannot inherit family or clan land. Also, heirs are categorized into three degrees, which discriminates against daughters by putting the sons in the 'first degree' with daughters in the 'third degree'. The eldest son of the 'first house' is the main heir and if the deceased left no son in the 'first house', then the eldest son of another wife (the 'second house') becomes the heir (Rule 19). In so doing, the first son is in first degree, other sons are in the second degree and daughters are in the third degree (Rule 25). The person in the first degree is the first heir and he gets a bigger share than any of other heirs (Rule 22). The mode of distribution of property among people in the second and third degrees is according to their ages, i.e. the oldest ones will get more than the younger, and males will get more than females (Rule 30). Widows are the most vulnerable as they receive no share of the inheritance if the deceased left other relatives of his own clan. She is to be cared for by her children just as she cared for them. She can only inherit if the deceased left no child or other relative of his own clan, and even then can only acquire usufruct (use rights) and may not sell the land (Rule 27) (Rwebangira, 1996).

Overall, however, during this period, the most powerful piece of legislation was the Land Acquisition Act of 1967 that empowered the President to acquire any piece of land for 'public purposes' including state farms, cities and town settlements, industry, transport, forest reserves, national parks and game reserves. In 1967, TANU adopted an ideology of socialism and self-reliance, or *Ujamaa*, as it was known in Swahili, the basic tenets of which were outlined in the Arusha Declaration, which called for the nationalization of all major means of production. Under the banner of a socialist ideology, the state took over the ownership of lands, industries, farms, schools, banks and other firms. Part of land that had previously been under the jurisdiction of customary law was nationalized for large-scale farming, ranches and state-owned industries.



A policy of 'villagization' was adopted, involving the resettlement of rural people living in scattered homesteads in clustered villages to speed up development by increasing agricultural production and facilitating the provision of services such as schools, health facilities and improved water supply. This was enabled by the Village and Ujamaa Villages Act (1975), which provided for the establishment and administration of villages but did not provide a legal framework for the new tenure arrangements. It was assumed that, because of the President's radical title, customary land tenure rights in areas where new villages were established could be ignored and the land re-allocated to village councils and those resettled (Coldham, 1995, p 228; Kauzeni et al, 1998). In 1975 and 1976 large-scale resettlement of people into Ujamaa villages occurred. Land was allocated to these villages for collective farming and individual village members were provided with plots of land for farming at the household level. However, the lack of a legal framework for land administration during villagization meant that it was unclear whether alienation and inheritance should be dealt with under customary law or general law (Coldham, 1995). Unlike in the past, when clan heads were responsible for allocating land, Village Councils with authority to allocate land were established. These Councils have been dominated by male members, who have tended to interpret land administration in accordance with their knowledge of customary practices, including practices that discriminate against women in order to maintain rights over clan land exclusively for males. Research undertaken by the Dar-es-Salaam Institute of Land Administration and Policy Studies (DILAPS) suggests that by 1979 about 15 million people had been relocated, some forcibly and without any compensation, to 8,300 registered Ujamaa villages (Lugoe, 2008, p 5). As people were displaced from their ancestral lands, pressure for males to control and own what land remained increased. In addition, many areas that already had consolidated villages continued to operate customary tenure.

#### 2.4 The end of the Ujamaa period

With the introduction of structural adjustment policies, including economic liberalization, in the mid-1980s and the introduction of a multiparty political system in the 1990s, people's struggles for land rights intensified. The privatization of many previously state-owned farms and businesses, coupled with increased commoditization of land, has resulted in a series of conflicts and disputes between communities and the state, communities and foreign investors, pastoralists and farmers, small and large-scale farmers, and conservationists and farmers (Maoulidi, 2006).<sup>8</sup> Other types of land disputes also dominated much of the two decades prior to the study, including conflicts based on the violation



of customary land tenure (e.g. the sale of clan land without seeking the agreement of other clan members or giving daughters inheritance rights to clan land without the sons' agreement); conflicts brought about by the inadequacy of the legal system and the existence of conflicting legal regimes; and inefficient government machinery to deal with land matters, such as the issuing of title deeds, the double allocation of land plots, compensation and delays in settling court cases (Koda, 1998, p 213). The lions share of disputes between pastoralist communities and the state and foreign investors over land and natural resource rights have occurred in the northern part of Tanzania in the Arusha region, where pastoralist communities such as the Maasai, the Barabaig and others reside (Mckie, 2007; Neumann, 2006). Moreover, clashes over land have been exacerbated by urbanization and population growth, which have increased the pressure on land. For instance, between December 2005 and December 2008, a total of 33,163 land disputes were filed at the district land tribunals (Kironde, 2009, p 23).

Following the end of the *Ujamaa* period, many people who had customary land rights prior to the 'villagization process' began to file their cases before the courts in attempts to reclaim their land. Faced with a large number of demands, in 1986 the government reacted by amending the "Rural Lands (Planning and Utilisation) Act of 1973 that empowered the...Minister responsible for regional administration to extinguish any deemed right of occupancy in any 'specified area''' (Coldham, 1995, p 236-237). Also, District Councils were granted power to distribute land as they deemed fit. In 1987, Government Notice no. 88 was issued to extinguish "customary land rights in certain districts where serious disputes had arisen" (Coldham, 1995, p 237). In the early 1990s, as pressure mounted, the government enacted the Land Tenure (Established Villages) Act of 1992, which extinguished all pre-existing customary rights in areas affected by villagization (ibid, p 238; see also Shivji, 1994).

Studies have found that the ways in which customary law on land tenure is interpreted and practised vary between communities and over time (see, for example, Becker, 2008; Odgaard, 2002, 2005; Yngstrom, 2002). It is particularly influenced by the degree of pressure on or demands for land. For example, Kauzeni et al (1998), in their studies of four villages in Arusha and Dodoma, found that in villages where there was a greater perception of land scarcity (e.g. Ilkirevi and Ipala villages in Arusha region), the majority of villagers reported that they would not dare to dispose of their clan or family land without seeking authority from the head of the clan or lineage, since they would suffer serious



consequences through social sanctions if they did. In contrast, in villages where the perception of land shortage was lower (e.g. Arkatan and Mahoma Makulu in Dodoma region), many villagers reported that "they could dispose of privately held resources without consulting any clan or lineage heads" (Kauzeni et al, 1998, p 76). The study further found that in Arusha, women could only access land through their husbands or as custodians for their sons and it was very difficult for them to inherit land. In Dodoma, however, many villagers reported that their daughters could inherit land. Thus, as land becomes scarcer, women's vulnerability with respect to their rights to access, control and inherit it increases.

Over time the flexibility of customary land law has been reduced and the rules governing access to and control over land have been made more rigid by changes brought about by both the colonial governments and some of the laws and policies of the post-independence government.

In the mid-1980s, however, the privatization of the economy called for greater security of tenure and it was in this context that the government embarked on a process of land reforms, which (as we discuss below) formed the basis of struggles for land rights by various groups. According to Shivji, by the early 1990s, the machinery for resolving land disputes had virtually broken down, largely because there was overlapping jurisdiction between various bodies, including state and party officials. Also, disputes lasted for too long without resolution, in part because the organs of justice were remote and inaccessible to many people (Shivji, 2002, p 205). As land became more valuable, women's land rights were increasingly weakened (Kironde, 2009). Indeed, the use by families, communities and courts of customary practices and law, accompanied by increased demand for land, have resulted in further marginalization of women in land ownership, control and access. Women's struggles for land rights in the 1990s need to be understood in this context and it is to these struggles that we now turn.



# 3 Women's activism, religion and the state: a historical account

#### 3.1 Women's activism in the pre-independence period

The history of women's activism goes hand-in-hand with the development of the Tanzanian state. Social movements that aimed to challenge exploitative colonial structures and processes were organized by peasants, workers and ethnic associations. Women's struggles during the colonial period remain largely undocumented. Women's activism became more organized during the modern nationalist struggles for independence, beginning in the mid-1950s, when political parties started to emerge. For example, the nationwide nationalist party Tanganyika African National Union (TANU) was formed in 1954. In the early years of the nationalist struggle, TANU did very little to mobilize women's support as members or leaders of the party. Thus up until 1955, its central committee included only male members (Geiger, 1987). However, by the end of 1955, TANU had registered about 5,000 women members (Geiger, 1987, p 1). This marked the beginning of an organized women's mobilization, in which women were organized as a section of TANU. Bibi Titi Mohamed became the first chairperson of TANU's women's section. Indeed, she purchased TANU card number sixteen and became TANU's first female member (Geiger, 1987, p 15). She was instrumental in encouraging increased numbers of women to become TANU members. Subsequently, Bibi Titi emerged as not only a leader of women but as a major TANU figure throughout the country (Geiger, 1987). She is widely remembered as playing a prominent role in mobilizing both women and men to join the party, thereby expanding the party's mass base (Geiger, 1987; Mallya, 2005; Tenga and Maina, 1996).

The composition of TANU's women section is worth revisiting. Initially, the party's female members were mainly coastal women with no formal education engaged in the selling of doughnuts, local beer and fish. In addition, many of the women had one thing in common: they were members of different dancing groups. While the colonialists did not regard these popular women's dance/musical groups as significant avenues for women's political mobilization, they soon became more than just entertainment (Geiger, 1987). In 1965 the women's section of TANU developed into a national women's organization called Umoja wa Wanawake Tanganyika (UWT) (discussed below). Overall, however, women's activism during the struggle for independence restricted itself to the nationalist struggles for the country's independence from the colonial power.



#### 3.2 Women's activism during single-party rule

The nature of Tanzania's single party political system set boundaries on the extent to which women could mobilize themselves in organizations or as a social movement. Tanganyika was the first country in Africa to institutionalize a de jure single party system in 1965. All the political parties that had existed after independence were banned and only one party, TANU, was allowed to operate. All non-state actors, with the exception of churches and mosques, were either banned or had to become affiliates of this party. Independent ethnic-based organizations, cooperatives and labour unions were all brought under the control of the party and used to disseminate the party's policies. By its very nature, single-party rule greatly restricted freedom of association and expression and thereby jeopardized women's space to organize and mobilize. Any opposition to the government and its policies was severely suppressed. All this affected the nature of women's struggles because, like other civil society organizations (CSOs), women could not organize independently.

Following the imposition of single-party rule, as mentioned above, the only organized women's body was the Women Union of Tanzania (UWT), previously the women's section of TANU (which, in 1977, changed its name and became Chama cha Mapinduzi (CCM)). UWT was among other party-affiliated organizations involving youth, parents and workers. It was "not in any way an independent organization of women, for and by women" (Tenga and Maina, 1996, p 150). Instead, it was largely an organ of the party, used to disseminate the party's policies to the grassroots, a structure to serve TANU's political interests and promote its ideology, the women's wing of the party rather than an independent and legitimate political forum for women. By 1982, about 10 per cent of women in the country belonged to the UWT (Meena, 1989, p 31), the leadership and programmes of which all had to be approved by the party. This was a case of 'directed mobilization' where "the authority and initiative come from outside and stand above the collectivity itself" (Molyneux, 1989, p 229).

Yet, despite its lack of autonomy, UWT was able to make important gains to further women's interests. It played an important role in amending the 1971 Marriage Act, by ensuring that, in "very clear terms, and with the sole reason of protecting family, the law provided grounds for divorce" (Tenga and Maina, 1996). Also, the UWT was instrumental in pushing the government to enact the Employment Ordinance (Amendment) Act of 1975, which provided paid maternity leave, originally provided only to married women, for all working women, regardless of their marital status,. Also, in 1976, the UWT was



able to push for early university entry for women so that they could be exempt from serving a compulsory two-year period working in villages or other workplaces before joining a university. According to the UWT, this requirement would have an adverse effect on women's education, because they could be discouraged from pursuing further studies after becoming pregnant and/ or getting married (Tenga and Maina, 1996).

Moreover, throughout the single-party period, the Tanzanian state pursued policies that aimed at unifying diverse social groups and creating a single national identity. Unlike neighbouring countries, Tanzania is a highly unified country with relative harmony and civic peace, despite the presence of diverse ethnic groups and religions. As noted above, there are 120 ethnic groups and different religions, yet the country has remained relatively calm. The use of one national language, Swahili, has been one of the contributing factors. Also, government policies to promote national unity and nation-building throughout the period of single-party rule helped to make Tanzania a unified nation. The socialist ideology instilled in people a sense of collectivity and togetherness rather than difference and animosity. In 1967, the nationalization of the major means of production, including cooperative farms owned communally by villages, in which both men and women worked, led to a sense of collective ownership of the economy.

Overall, however, throughout the single-party period, despite its emphasis on equality for all, TANU paid little attention to women's political representation or land rights. In the area of the political representation of women in decision-making bodies, from independence until the first multi-party elections of the 1995, fewer than 10 per cent of members of parliament (MPs) were women. Also, women were poorly represented in the village councils that had a great deal of power at the local level, including land allocation. In addition, little attention was given to how a series of state laws and policies on land use impacted upon women, making them even more vulnerable to land insecurity.

### 3.3 Women's activism during the multi-party period

Since the introduction of a multi-party political system in 1992, there has been unprecedented growth of civil society organizations in Tanzania. Between 1993 and 1997 the number of registered CSOs increased from 224 to 8,360, of which 80 per cent were women's associations (Tripp, 2000, p 15). Since the mid-1990s, the struggle for equal access to resources, political influence and economic



improvement has been intensified on various fronts. Women's organizations have waged struggles for increased political participation and representation, equal employment rights, land rights, educational opportunities and economic empowerment. It is women's struggle for equal access to the ownership and use of land that formed the basis for the emergence of an organized women's land rights movement in the 1990s.

While the multi-party competitive system opened up opportunities for women to organize, this had to take place within the prescribed rules of association, as stipulated in the country's 1977 constitution. CSOs are free to operate as long as they do not engage in political activism by supporting a political party or any electoral contestant. Likewise, the constitution prohibits any political entity aimed at "promoting or furthering the interest of, among other things, any group" (Article 20(2)(a)(i) of the 1977 Constitution of the United Republic of Tanzania). As a result of this constitutional de-linkage between civil society organizations and political entities, women have mobilized rather cautiously, in order to maintain a delicate balance between pursuing the goals and interests of women as a 'group' without over-stepping the boundaries specified in the constitution.

The case of the Women's Council of Tanzania (BAWATA) illustrates this issue. Efforts to form an independent women's organization after the advent of pluralist politics in 1992 faced a great deal of resistance from the government in power. Registered in May 1995, BAWATA, an autonomous non-governmental organization, headed by an economics professor, Anna Tibaijuka, was intended to liberate women from all forms of gender exploitation, oppression, discrimination and degradation (Tenga and Maina, 1996). However, its expanded support base and grassroots nature made it threatening to the government, which led to its forceful demise. The government de-registered it in 1996, accusing it of being 'political' and operating like a political party. During its brief existence, BAWATA was able to mobilize women from all levels of society, regardless of their party affiliations, enabling it to become a nationwide women's movement.

While the UWT still exists as the ruling party's women's wing, it has lost its status as the only organization for women in the country. There are today numerous civil society organizations, the majority of which are gender-based organizations. These are, according to Tripp, "independent women's organizations", which can be seen as part of a wider movement that is challenging the



pervasive powers of African states (Tripp, 2001a, p 33). According to Tripp, they were able to emerge as independent organizations because of four related changes in political opportunity structures, namely, the loss of state legitimacy, the opening up of political space, economic crisis and the shrinking of state resources (Tripp, 2001a). It is in this context that Tripp refers to women's organizations in Tanzania as constituting a movement, which campaigns, amongst other things, for an increased number of women leaders. In addition, women's struggles in the 1990s against customary land tenure in Africa have given rise to active women's movements. Cases of women's mobilization against discriminatory land policies and practices have occurred in Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique, Zambia, Eritrea, Namibia and South Africa (Tripp, 2004). In particular, Tripp argues that it is important for women's movements to be autonomous. For example, in her study of the Ugandan women's movement, she demonstrates that because of its autonomy from the state and the party in power, it has become one of the most effective women's movements in Africa (Tripp, 2001b, p 101).<sup>9</sup>

Pluralist political systems have created spaces for women's organizations to play advocacy, lobbying and developmental roles, thereby pursuing gender-related policies and issues in the areas of political participation, land rights, employment, education, and other spheres. The effectiveness of women's organizations in Tanzania can be assessed in terms of the role they play in effecting changes in policies and legislation. For instance, women's organizations have been at the forefront in pushing for an affirmative action policy to increase the number of women representatives in parliament and local councils. As a result of their efforts, beginning in 1995, the number of women in parliament began to rise, although largely through affirmative action ('special seats' allocated for women) rather than through direct competition at constituency level. Through the special seats arrangement, the number of women in parliament increased from 37 in 1995 to 48 in 2000 and 75 in 2005. Currently, women constitute 30 per cent of all MPs. Efforts to mainstream gender in government institutions have also been made, including the adoption of a gender budgeting initiative (GBI) in selected sectors. Also women's organizations exerted pressure for the enactment of the Sexual Offences (Special Provisions) Act of 1998, which provides safeguards against sexual abuse of women, girls and children, for example setting the age for consensual sexual activity at 18.

Women's struggles have been taking place amidst changes in the nature of religious relations in the country. Despite the presence of long-time civic and social peace, tensions between Christians and



Muslims are on the rise, especially on questions of equal access to resources, including education and political power (Campbell, 1999; Heilmann and Kaiser, 2002; Mukandala, 2006). Cases of sporadic confrontation between Muslims and the state have occurred, especially in the early 1990s. The liberalization of the economy and politics led to a resurgence of suppressed notions of social identity based on ideas of ethnicity and religion (Campbell, 1999). As various groups compete for power, influence and resources, the boundaries between established identities are being redefined, leading to different forms of group mobilization. Yet the secular neutrality of the state is still in force. Political groupings are able to organize and mobilize, but not along religious lines. Thus, neither civil society organizations nor political parties are free to use religion as a tool for mass mobilization. Nevertheless, religion and religious organizations are very significant features of Tanzanian society, as described in Section 1. They are inevitably linked to wider social and political change through their influence on people's worldviews, the role of religious bodies as a source of social capital and their organizational resources. For this reason, it is important to understand the way in which any political and social movements interact with religion and religious organizations. This study examines women's struggle for land rights, highlighting the manner in which the land rights movement engaged with religion, the state and like-minded civil society organizations in the 1990s to promote women's interests across all religions in Tanzania. How did the women's land rights movement organize its struggles? It is to this discussion that we now turn, before we look more closely at its engagement with religion.



# 4 The women's land rights movement of the 1990s: strategies and tactics

### 4.1 Legal reform and land rights

The women's land rights movement waged its struggle by interacting and negotiating with various actors, including government officials, members of Parliament, non-governmental organizations and religious organizations. First and foremost, the movement emerged in reaction to the Tanzanian government's plan to introduce legal reforms in the land tenure system. With the shift from a state-led to a liberalized market economy in the mid-1980s, the government faced the daunting task of devising policies that could provide secure land tenure. In the process of reforming land policies, three developments were critical, namely, the formation of a Presidential Commission of Inquiry into land matters in 1991, the adoption of the National Land Policy of 1995 and the Land Bill of 1996. Ideally, the findings of the Commission were supposed to inform both the policy and subsequently the bill. However, in drafting the Land Policy and the Land Bill, the government decided to disregard many of the recommendations of its own Commission, for the reasons discussed below.

The Land Commission, headed by prominent professor of law and renowned critic of liberal market policies, Issa Shivji, visited all twenty regions of mainland Tanzania and held 277 public meetings in 145 villages and 132 urban centres. The Commission, commonly referred as the Shivji Commission, also visited Kenya, Zimbabwe and Botswana. Within 18 months of coming into existence, the Commission presented to the President a two-volume report, including a series of recommendations. The Commission's terms of reference included, among other things, to gather complaints from the general public regarding land, to identify the basic causes of land disputes and to propose remedial measures, to review matters of policy and laws pertaining to land, and to analyze the organizational structures involved in land matters (URT, 1994).

The Commission's recommendations sought to democratize land tenure systems in order to empower poor communities against the forces of the market and the state, including men and women, pastoralists and small-scale farmers. As noted above, the executive can determine the use of any piece of land in the public interest, including village land and customary land, and can allocate land to either government agencies or private investors for large scale farming or mining. Despite the provision of financial compensation to the original owners, this practice has led to a great deal of land alienation, particularly from pastoralists and small-scale farmers (Shivji, 1998, 2002). In response, the Commission recommended detaching land ownership and administration from civil servants,



suggesting instead that land matters should be the responsibility of representative structures, namely the parliament and village assemblies. It recommended, therefore, that the 'radical title' over land should no longer be vested in the President of the United Republic.<sup>10</sup> Instead, administration of land should be vested in a body to be known as a National Lands Commission (NLC), which would be governed by a Board of Land Commissioners and answerable to parliament, and village land should be vested in village assemblies (URT, 1994, p 154). The Shivji Commission thus recommended reform of the statist top-down institutional structure by abolishing the powerful Ministry of Lands and creating room for people's participation in the administration of land matters (Shivji, 2002).

Regarding customary law, the Commission recommended an evolutionary approach, in the sense that customary law, in its view, should be allowed to operate and evolve over time through people's struggles, rather than through legislative intervention (Tsikata, 2003). Supporting the Commission's recommendation, Professor Kabudi of the School of Law of the University of Dar es Salaam asserted that "*you cannot legislate against culture*" (interview with Prof. Kabudi, April 17, 2010, DSM). In this regard, the Land Commission made it clear that "our recommendation on land tenure on village lands has the customary base as its point of departure. In that respect, it is not a fundamental departure from the existing situation" (URT, 1994, p 157). The report further states that "from the evidence we received we were convinced that customary law and practices with respect to land tenure have greater legitimacy with our people than any statutory system imposed from above would have" (ibid, p 157). This clearly set Shivji's Land Commission in sharp contrast with the spirit of the women's land rights movement. Indeed, one notable criticism of the Commission was its neglect of the gender question in its analysis (Manji, 1998). As Maoulidi puts it "the Commission report failed to challenge sexist ideologies and patriarchal structures that further the exclusion of certain groups, particularly women and youth, from social, political and economic processes" (Maoulid, 2006, p 4).

The government strongly rejected the Land Commission's recommendations and decided to ignore many of its recommendations in the formulation of the subsequent Land Policy of 1995 and draft Land Bill of 1996. Both the policy and the bill departed in many ways from the Shivji Commission's recommendations. In both, the intention was for land to continue to be publicly owned and the 'radical title' vested in the President as trustee on behalf of all citizens. The Land Bill sought to empower the Commissioner for Lands in the government Ministry of Lands to be the sole authority, with ultimate and



final powers of intervention and decision in all matters related to the administration of land (Shivji, 1998; Sundet, 2005). It was suggested that the pluralist legal system, which includes statutory, Islamic and customary law, should continue to operate. It is on this basis that Shivji concludes that "on fundamental policy questions, the bills, in my view, represent no departure from the existing principles, which were laid down in the Land Ordinance of 1923. In short, what was regulated administratively has now been codified" (Shivji ,1999, p 3).

With regard to women, the Land Policy acknowledges women's disadvantage in accessing and owning land, due to customs that predominantly favour men. It states that women should be entitled to acquire land in their own right through purchase or allocation, but that "inheritance of clan land shall continue to be governed by custom and tradition, provided that such custom and tradition is not contrary to the Constitution and is not repugnant to the principles of natural justice" (URT, 1997, paragraph 4.2.5), also stating that it did not recommend legislation with respect to "ownership of land between husband and wife" (paragraph 4.2.6), although it did not specify how the first was to be operationalized or refer to the Law of Marriage Act (1971) which does refer to domestic property. Thus, according to the women's land rights movement, neither the Commission report nor the National Land Policy and the subsequent Land Bill addressed gender issues in a comprehensive manner (GLTF, 1998; Manji, 1998).<sup>11</sup> As a result, the women's land rights movement began its work challenging the content of the 1996 Land Bill and lobbying for a more gender-sensitive bill, as discussed below. It is this struggle for equal access to land ownership and use that formed the basis of an organized women's land rights movement in the 1990s.

### 4.2 The beginnings of the women's land rights movement

The movement began to take shape when a coalition called the Gender Land Task Force (GLTF) was formed in March 1997. This coalition was headed by the Tanzania Women Lawyers Association (TAWLA) and included six other organizations, namely the Tanzanian Media Women's Association (TAMWA), the Women's Advancement Trust (WAT), the Women's Legal Aid Centre (WLAC), the Tanzania Gender Networking Programme (TGNP), the National Organization for Children, Welfare and Human Relief (NOCHU) and the Tanzania Home Economics Association (TAHEA). It is the collectivity of these organizations that is referred to here as the 'women's land rights movement'.



The context in which the GLTF was formed is also of relevance, in terms of characterizing the emergence and nature of a women's land rights movement in Tanzania. The decision to form the GLTF emerged as a result of the government's banning of the National Women's Council of Tanzania (BAWATA) in 1996. BAWATA had originally aimed, among other things, to push for land reforms. When it was suspended in 1997, it was decided that TAWLA would take the lead and facilitate the formation of a land coalition (Haki Ardhi, 2009). Unlike the GLTF, which was a network of independent CSOs, BAWATA had emerged as a nation-wide movement comprised of individual women from all walks of life, both rural and urban, regardless of party affiliation and socio-economic status. The abolition of BAWATA by the government clearly indicated how restrictive the political environment was during the initial years of the multi-party competitive system. The women's land rights movement had to learn from this saga and carefully navigate a delicate political terrain in order to achieve its objectives.

Throughout the struggle for land rights, the GLTF defined its demands as primarily being directed against a discriminatory customary land tenure system that is detrimental to women's interests, in terms of their access to, control over and inheritance of land. As the Executive Director of the Women's Legal Aid Centre (WLAC), Scholastica Jullu stated:

We directed our struggles to those customs that discriminate against women in land ownership and control. For instance, in certain tribes such as the Kerewe, a widow has to be purified if she is to inherit part of the husband's property. Purification here can include even to have sex with a male son, if any, or when cleaning the dead husband's body, a woman/ widow is forced to sleep under the bed so that water from the deceased body will wash her and purify her and [she will] be able to stay and use some of the clan's property (interview, 14<sup>th</sup> August, 2009, DSM).

The GLTF's demands for the reform (or, sometimes, the abolition) of customary land tenure and the associated laws also stemmed from the magnitude of the problem. Many cases brought to legal aid centres by women involve matters of inheritance and land disputes. In Kilimanjaro region, for example, a non-governmental organization dealing with legal counselling, the Kilimanjaro Women Information Exchange and Consultancy Organization (KWIECO), received a total of 1,859 clients in 1989, 45 per cent of whom had legal problems with respect to inheritance and land disputes (KWIECO, 2005, p 22). The same trend is observed at the Women's Legal Aid Centre (WLAC), where in 2007 alone legal services were provided to 6,093 women, many of them relating to inheritance and land disputes (WLAC, 2007). WLAC provides legal advice, counselling, court representation, judgement follow-up,


drafting of legal documents and reconciliation (WLAC, 2007). It concludes that "the existence of discriminatory laws such as the 1963 Customary Law of inheritance makes WLAC's work difficult in enabling women to access justice" (WLAC, 2007, p 9).<sup>12</sup> In 2005, WLAC filed strategic litigation on inheritance rights in the High Court to challenge customary laws of inheritance that discriminate against its clients. Two years later, the case was still unresolved (WLAC, 2007, p 36).

The GLTF's demands included the following (Mallya, 2005, p 192-193; see also Tsikata, 2001):

- The abolition of discriminatory customary law on land tenure, because it denies women inheritance rights over clan and family land.<sup>13</sup>
- Village councils rather than families or clans should be in charge of governing all matters pertaining to village land ownership.
- The Land Bill should categorically state what constitutes women's land rights, rather than merely
  recognizing the inferior position of women vis a vis men.
- Concerning the co-occupancy clause, the GLTF demanded joint ownership of land by spouses, with both husband's and wife's names appearing on a land title in all monogamous marriages. In polygamous marriages, it argued, the land registration certificate should show the names of a husband and all his wives. The law should also show how land is to be distributed after divorce.
- Women should be not merely represented, but equally represented, not only in village councils and councils of elders, but also in other authoritative institutions dealing with land issues, such as the High Court and the primary courts.
- Youth should be allowed to own land regardless of gender, and should also be represented in all institutions dealing with land matters.

The GLTF used various strategies and tactics to lobby for the changes in the Land Bill. First of all, each member organization was supposed to make a contribution to the movement based on its expertise. In this case, each organization was assigned to play a leading role in certain assignments (Chale and Ubwe, 1999, p 1; Haki Ardhi, 2009, p 2; Mosha, 2005, p 3). The allocation of duties was done during the first meeting, held from March 3<sup>rd</sup>-5<sup>th</sup> 1997 at the Russian Cultural Centre in Dar es Salaam (Haki Ardhi, 2009, p 1). The Tanzania Media Women's Association (TAMWA) was made responsible for media advocacy and publicity. It used the media to publicize the deficiencies in the Bill and to inform the public about its content in relation to gender relations. Radio, television and newspapers were all used in advocacy. The Tanzania Women Lawyers Association (TAWLA) was



assigned the task of reviewing the provisions in the bill, particularly those that discriminated against women, and proposing some amendments. The TGNP was responsible for parliamentary lobbying, providing information to individual legislators to try to win their support for the proposed changes to the Bill. Community outreach activities were placed under the guidance of TAHEA, and WLAC. NOCHU and WAT were responsible for creating a public awareness raising campaign (Mosha, 2005, p 3) and press releases, fliers and bulletins were distributed to various stakeholders.

The second strategy was the use of seminars and workshops involving a varied range of stakeholders, including government officials, religious institutions, civil society organizations, members of Parliament, and media editors and reporters. TAMWA took the lead and organized workshops for members of parliament (MPs) in Dodoma in July 1998 and January 1999. Moreover, on January 26<sup>th</sup> 1999, the GLTF and other civil society organizations attended a parliamentary public hearing of the Finance and Economic Parliamentary Committee in Dodoma (Haki Ardhi, 2009, p 5). TAHEA organised a workshop in the rural area of Mandaka in Kilimanjaro region and a land symposium was held in June 1998, attended by different stakeholders, including the Commissioner for Lands. The engagement with government officials involved inviting them to the GLTF workshops and seminars, and direct communications with the key three government ministries, namely, the Ministry of Justice and Constitutional Affairs, the Ministry of Lands and the Ministry of Community Development, Women Affairs and Children (interview with Executive Director, WAT, 19<sup>th</sup> August 2009). The GLTF's cooperation with government officials was facilitated by one of its members, who was a member of parliament from the ruling party, CCM (Manji, 2001).

In addition, drama and live street performance shows were organized by the famous Parapanda Group for three days between 27<sup>th</sup> and 29<sup>th</sup> January 1999 in Dodoma (Haki Ardhi, 2009, p 5), with the aim of raising awareness amongst members of parliament and the people of Dodoma. Religious organizations were involved as partners in the public awareness campaigns in sensitizing their own members about the Land Bill debate (Haki Ardhi, 2009; Mosha, 2005; interview with Haki Ardhi Programme Officer, 7<sup>th</sup> July 2010). This will be discussed in the next section.

Furthermore, in an attempt to widen its base, the GLTF collaborated with another organization that had also been created to influence the Land Bill, called the National Land Forum (NALAF). In a workshop



held on the 15<sup>th</sup>-16th May 1997 in Dar es Salaam, a group of CSOs came together to discuss how to influence the proposed land legislation. It is important to point out that, after the Shivji Commission's recommendations were disregarded by the government, Shivji founded a CSO called the Land Rights Research Institute (popularly known in Kiswahili as Haki Ardhi), with the purpose of advancing and promoting the rights of peasants and pastoral communities. It was this organization that was instrumental in organizing the workshop, which then resolved to form the NALAF. Unlike the GLTF, which was comprised of women's organizations, the NALAF was more broad-based, including a variety of CSOs. Some of the GLTF members also became part of the NALAF (with both alliances together being referred to as the 'land coalition'). Given the instrumental role of Shivji and his organization, Haki Ardhi, the NALAF was driven by a commitment to push for the Land Commission's recommendations to be implemented (Odhiambo, 2002). The NALAF included fourteen organizations, including Haki Ardhi, the Law and Human Rights Research Centre (LHRC), the Journalists' Environmental Association of Tanzania (JET), the Pastoralist Indigenous Non-Governmental Organizations' Forum (PINGOs), the Women's Research and Documentation Project Association (WRDP), Ilaramatak Lorkonerei, Inyuat-e-Maa, Kipoc-Barbaig, the Aigwanak Trust and the Sahiba Sisters Foundation. GLTF members who were also members of the NALAF included TGNP, TAWLA and TAMWA.

In its campaign, the NALAF came up with an elaborate document that clearly spelt out the weaknesses in the government Land Bill and presented alternative positions. This document was called the *Declaration of NGOs and Interested Persons on Land* (1997), known popularly in Kiswahili as *Azimio la Uhai*. In its preamble, the declaration made three key observations: first, members of the NALAF "expressed their deep concern at the undemocratic way in which the bill had been prepared", without involving the people and by disregarding the "grievances of the people which were collected by the Presidential Commission of Inquiry"; secondly, "under the bill, the large majority of land users run the risk of losing their lands" to foreigners and the rich and powerful within the country; and, thirdly, "the bill continues to perpetuate discrimination and inequality for the most vulnerable groups particularly women, pastoralists, hunters and gatherers, the youth and small and poor peasantry" (Shivji, 1998, pp 111-112). Based on this, the NALAF resolved to present the declaration "for debate and discussion by the public in a National Debate on Land" (Shivji, 1998, pp 112).



The NALAF used similar strategies to the GLTF, including organizing seminars and workshops and media publicity. In addition, it made some efforts to reach out to the grassroots. This was made possible largely because some NALAF members were indigenous pastoralist non-governmental organizations based in the Arusha region. Also, as will be discussed below, the NALAF used religious organizations to gather the support of members from these organizations (interview with Haki Ardhi Programme Officer, August 28<sup>th</sup> 2009).

The establishment of the NALAF, three months after the GLTF was formed, resulted in two simultaneous movements that were trying to combine their energy and resources for the purpose of influencing the proposed land legislation. Haki Ardhi was the leading organization for the NALAF and the Tanzania Women's Lawyers Association (TAWLA) was the leading organization for the GLTF. However, the differences between them were too glaring for them to remain a "cohesive land" movement" (interview with Former Executive Director, Haki Ardhi, 28th August 2009; Manji, 2001; Shivji, 1998). Among the dividing issues were questions of the radical title and gender (Haki Ardhi, 2009; Manji, 2001). Thus, throughout the land debate two parallel movements waged struggles that pushed for different agendas. The NALAF and the GLTF were divided in terms of their diagnosis of the nature of the problem, their priorities and their approaches. The demands of the NALAF were defined in terms of empowering poor communities to have a voice in the future of their land by getting rid of the radical title (Manji, 2001). Hence, it demanded a law that would restrain the power of the state, the market and foreign investors to have unlimited access to land at the expense of marginalized groups, including pastoralists, hunters, peasants, youth, the disabled and women. For the NALAF, therefore, women's land rights were seen as irrelevant if whole communities were likely to lose their land due to the excessive power of the state, market and foreign investors. The entry point for the NALAF was class and not gender. By contrast, the GLTF's demands were geared towards transforming gender relations on matters of land ownership, use, control and disposal. Hence, the struggle was aimed at influencing the parliament to enact a gender-sensitive land law.

However, in terms of operation and membership, there were no strict boundaries between the two alliances. As the Haki Ardhi evaluative report on the land rights movement stated "many members of one process [NALAF or GLTF] were also members of the other" (Haki Ardhi, 2009, p 2) The two organizations also met with each other to assess the progress of the movement and to attempt to



resolve their differences (NALAF, 1999). For instance, joint meetings were held on the 4<sup>th</sup> April 1998 and May 5 1998 (ibid, p 1). Despite the differences in their priorities, both the NALAF and the GLTF collaborated with religious organizations in sensitizing the public on the content of the BII and their proposed changes to it. It is to this that we now turn.

## 4.3 The women's land rights movement and its engagement with religious organizations

Religious organizations in Tanzania have played an important role in the provision of social services, particularly education and health. For instance, 45 per cent and 12 per cent of private schools are Christian and Muslim respectively (Ishumi, 2006, p 462). In the health sector, the Catholic Church owns a total of 39 fully-fledged hospitals, 29 health centres and 363 dispensaries. Likewise, the Lutheran church operates 20 hospitals and 144 dispensaries (Mukandala, 2006, p 1). With the beginning of the multi-party political system in 1992, accompanied by an increase in the number of civil society organizations, religious or faith-based organizations have also been involved in advocacy on various matters affecting the marginalized and the vulnerable, particularly women, the youth, the disabled, children, orphans, people living with HIV/AIDS and the elderly. In the struggle for land rights, four religious organizations in particular were highlighted during our interviews as having collaborated with both the NALAF and the GLTF to influence the Land Bill: the Tanzania Episcopal Conference (TEC) of the Catholic Church; the Christian Council of Tanzania (CCT), an umbrella organization for the Protestant churches; the Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCT); and the Muslim Council of Tanzania (BAKWATA). All of these organizations have 'women's desks' in their structures.

In characterizing the nature of their involvement, it is important to point out that these religious organizations were not the most active members of the GLTF or the NALAF. The constitutional separation of religion and politics in Tanzania partly explains their caution in becoming directly involved in the women's land rights movement. Instead, they were involved as 'partners' of both the GLTF and the NALAF. Religious organizations were contacted by the NALAF and the GLTF and asked to disseminate information about the Bill to their followers in order to build a wide national movement for land rights. In so doing, the religious organizations were involved as part of the sensitization strategy of the land rights movement. Moreover, as the Deputy Secretary of Social Service of the ELCT said,



We [the ELCT] were not directly involved with the GLTF because we realized that when Christian groups get directly involved in this kind of movement, it tends to discourage people of other religions to participate, thinking that the movement is for Christians only (interview, 28<sup>th</sup> August, 2009).

This suggestion that the movement deliberately attempted to avoid forming formal alliances with particular religious groups, so as to avoid alienating other religious groups, was also indicated in our interviews with members of the women's land movement (see below). Thus, the cooperation between the women's land rights movement and the religious organizations can be understood as networking and coalitional processes (Diani and Bison, 2004). In addition, as we shall see, the movement itself did not want to align itself with particular religious traditions or for its campaign to be seen as in any way engaging critically with religion. Thus the cooperation between the women's land rights movement and religious organizations in Tanzania can be seen as an example of a "coalitional process rather than an interaction occurring explicitly within the boundaries of the movement itself" (Diani and Bison, 2004, p 283).

Among the religious organizations, the Evangelical Lutheran Church of Tanzania (ECLT) played a key role in disseminating information and publicly expressing its support for the NALAF demand for a national debate about the Land Bill before it was tabled in parliament. The ELCT is comprised of a total of twenty dioceses, with a membership of 5.3 million, making it a leading Lutheran church in Africa (**www.elct.org/news**). In a consultative meeting of its bishops, held on the 12<sup>th</sup> -17<sup>th</sup> August 1997 in Moshi, a resolution was passed supporting the *Declaration of NGOs and Interested Persons on Land (Azimio la Uhai)*. In this resolution, the ELCT called on the "government to desist from sending the Land Bill to Parliament so that a national debate could continue and to stop alienating land to foreigners until the new policy had been fully discussed and approved by the people" (Shivji, 1998, p 71). Furthermore, the ELCT attended some of the NALAF meetings, where it was represented by the head of its democracy and human rights desk, Dr. Rogatha Mshana. Haki Ardhi, the leading organization in the NALAF, addressed the ELCT Executive Council on land rights during the campaign (interview with ELCT Communication Coordinator, Elizabeth Lobulu, 7 June 2010). Also, in response to a NALAF request, on 31<sup>st</sup> October, 1997, the ELCT Secretary General wrote to various organizations in Arusha to solicit their support for the NALAF demands.



The ELCT has a clear focus on gender issues within its structures and activities, running a programme on gender and human rights that aims to increase the participation of women in the decision making structures of the church, as well as their participation in development groups (interview with Deputy Secretary of Social Services, 28 August, 2009). In 1990, women started to be ordained as priests and in 1999, the ELCT bishops adopted a policy statement on gender equality. Furthermore, the ELCT's religious values and teachings seem to be compatible with the general spirit of promoting the land rights of the marginalized, including women, men, pastoralists and youth. This is reflected in one of the speeches given by its Secretary General in Morogoro diocese, when he said "God created man and women as equal and commanded them to become one as husband and wife. God promised to be with his people and if we cry for his help, we would overcome the barriers toward equity between men and women" (ELCT Press release, July 3 2000). The same point of view was expressed in an interview with the ELCT Deputy Secretary of Social Services, who said that:

We teach husband and wife during marriage that they have become one and in so doing they are life partners and they should not segregate each other in property ownership. Hence, the concept of sharing wealth and making decisions together has started to grow among our followers (interview, 28 August, 2009).

The Christian Council of Tanzania (CCT), which has a membership of fifteen churches and fourteen church-related organizations (http://ccttz.org), was also invited to participate in the meetings of both the NALAF and the GLTF, as well as to disseminate information. For instance, the CCT in Morogoro region collaborated with the NALAF in disseminating booklets and attending meetings (Haki Ardhi-NALAF database, 1998<sup>14</sup>), and the CCT in Dar es Salaam collaborated with the GLTF in disseminating information to CCT members (interview with TAMWA member, 5<sup>th</sup> June 2010). One of the CCT's main aims is to

...promote and take an active role in the development and provision of welfare services for the communities of people served by the churches; [and] to strengthen and build capacity of the member churches to respond effectively to emergencies, human displacement, gender equity, good governance, justice and HIV/AIDS pandemic and orphans... [In its strategic plan, the CCT sets out to] integrate the Rights Based Approach to development and enhance participation in public policy engagement and advocacy through capacity building, collaboration and networking among CCT membership, faith based organizations and the wider civic society. (http://ccttz.org).



The organization has a desk dealing with women's development, children and gender, with the goal of empowering women and children in order to achieve gender equity and improved quality of life. It also has a policy analysis and advocacy desk that aims to promote the participation and engagement of CCT members in influencing public policy (Leurs et al, 2011).

In addition to the ELCT and the CCT, the National Muslim Council of Tanzania (BAKWATA) and the Tanzania Episcopal Conference (TEC) were invited to attend both NALAF and GLTF meetings (interview with Programme Officer, Haki Ardhi, 7<sup>th</sup> June 2010). Our interviews do not indicate that the involvement of these two organizations was as extensive as that of the ELCT and CCT.<sup>15</sup> Nevertheless, both TEC and BAKWATA do seem to share some commonalities with the spirit of the land rights movement. For example, both have been engaged in advocacy on various issues, including conducting civic education and participating as election observers during general elections (Leurs et al, 2011).

#### 4.4 The women's land rights movement and its interpretation of 'customary law'

As we have seen above, although none of the religious organizations were formal members of the NALAF or the GLTF, the women's land rights movement did engage with them to mobilize support for its campaign. In addition to looking at the extent to which the women's land rights movement engaged with religious organizations in pursuit of its goals, one of the aims of the research was to understand whether and how religion plays a role in the uneven allocation of land rights in Tanzania and how this was addressed by movement actors. This discussion has two dimensions. First, while customary laws and practices are often considered to be linked to African Traditional Religion (for instance, in scholarly accounts of religion in Africa, also see Masanja and Lawi, 2006), none of our respondents took this view. They were adamant that their campaign did not tackle or engage negatively with religion, while it did engage negatively with customary law. Second, the movement did not attempt to challenge Islamic law, despite its unequal treatment of women in matters of land rights. Thus, the movement's interpretation of 'customary law' was divorced from any discussion of religion. On the one hand, customary rules and practices were not seen to be religious and, on the other hand, Muslim law, although problematic for women, was not tackled by the movement. This section seeks to provide some explanations



Despite the impression gained from our interviews, in some communities in Tanzania, customary land tenure practices do have links with ATR.

Indigenous African religions may be defined as interactions between people and nonvisible reality,,, seen in expressed ideas, attitudes, values and ritual practices that acknowledge the presence and powers of a more or less elaborate system of nonphysical reality... [They] are culture and environment specific (Masanja and Lawi, 2006, p 79).

Traditional beliefs are likely to have been much stronger in pre-colonial times, when "religion pervaded all spheres of the social, economic and political life of individuals and societies" (ibid, p 80), but as noted above, they are the primary belief systems for some groups in Tanzania today and continue to influence many more. For instance, according to the Maasai's traditional religion, certain hilltops are considered 'sacred' and no individual "is allowed to own, control or manage them except for religious functions" (Kauzeni et al, 1998, p 77). Similarly, according to Hehe customs, "the presence of graves is itself a justification for legitimate land claims... [That is to say, only those people regarded as the] rightful heirs to the property of the deceased can use land where ancestors are buried" (Odgaard, 2002, p 78). A preliminary search of the anthropological literature to ascertain whether such spiritual dimensions of rights and attachments to land are typical of customary tenure systems did not reveal other discussions of the matter, and an extensive search was beyond the scope of this research. In addition, studies of colonial and post-colonial land expropriation and villagization do not seem to have considered whether the extensive displacement of ethnic groups and clans from their ancestral land has influenced their views about such spiritual dimensions.

Despite the possible connection between ATR and customary land tenure systems, the findings from our interviews indicate that our respondents did not regard customary land tenure practices to have religious dimensions. Typical responses included:

We did not challenge religion at all. Instead we directed our struggle against discriminatory customary law and practices on land tenure (interview with the Executive Director of the Women's Legal Aid Centre (WLAC), 14<sup>th</sup> August, 2009). I consider customary land tenure systems as just customs and taboos and not as ATR (interview the Legal Officer of the Legal and Human Rights Center (LHRC), 25<sup>th</sup> Sept. 2009).



On our part in TGNP, we have not really talked much about African traditional religion as such...Religion did not feature at all in the struggle for women's land rights (interview with Prof. Marjorie Mbilinyi, 25<sup>th</sup> September 2009).

While this is a limited sample, it is reflective of a more general observation from our interviews that, even though the women's land rights movement was waging a struggle against customary land law and practices, it did not view those practices as having any religious dimension.

With respect to traditional beliefs and practices, the responses affirm, first, that these are not seen as 'religion' in the same sense as Islam or Christianity, and second, that there is a lack of agreement over what ATR encapsulates. To scholars of religion this lack of clarity is not surprising, since unlike Islam and Christianity ATR is not a codified set of beliefs and practices with clear institutional arrangements. The above discussion of the syncretic nature of much African religion supports this view. As noted above, it is clear that many Tanzanians regard indigenous beliefs and practices as 'culture' rather than a separate religious tradition. Instead, people often see themselves as Christian or Muslim *and* a believer or practitioner in some aspects of what elsewhere is labelled as traditional religion.

However, this divorce of customary law from 'religion' may also reflect the fact that the land rights movement was largely urban and that the rural women who are most affected by customs and tradition were not directly mobilized to wage the struggle and, hence, their interpretation of custom and tradition (and the interpretations of the men who take on responsibilities and roles in customary rituals and practices) was not taken into account in the struggle. The women's land rights movement did indeed face a major limitation in its struggles to influence the Land Bill because of its failure to reach out to the majority of women in rural areas. As Agripina Mosha explains, "originally, the intention was for the GLTF to have representatives from all over Tanzania, however, due to financial constraints most coalition members came from Dar es Salaam" (Mosha, 2005, p 2). As a result, the women's land rights movement remained largely urban-based and lacked organized grassroots support, possibly influencing its interpretation of the nature of customary practice. Future research into contemporary claims by clans and families for the restitution of land expropriated by the government and the dynamics and power struggles accompanying the implementation of the Land Act could explore such issues.



The second sense in which the campaign was divorced from religion was with respect to its lack of engagement with Islamic law, which has its own sets of rules and customs that shape land ownership and inheritance. As discussed above, Muslim personal and family law is available to Muslims in Tanzania, although the extent to which it is used to regulate gender relations, marriage and property outside Zanzibar is unclear (although see Becker, 2008, for some discussion of this in southeastern Tanzania). As with so-called customary law, as noted above, Muslim law treats men and women differently. Our interviews suggest several reasons why Islamic law was left alone. First, traditional customary law is localized and not strictly codified (despite the 1963 Order that sought to standardize it), so is negotiable. In contrast, Muslim law emerges out of Islamic religious principles and teaching. As a member of the Sahiba Sisters Foundation, an organization dedicated to improving the welfare of Muslim women in Tanzania and a member organization of the NALAF, asserted:

Challenging Islamic laws is virtually impossible as they are God's law. They are nonnegotiable. They only need to be properly implemented for women to inherit their due share (interview with Subira Mohammed, 23<sup>rd</sup> Sept. 2009).

Muslim law governing inheritance and succession was therefore not challenged, even though some respondents acknowledged its discriminatory nature. Muslim law provides for women to own land in their own names. Sheikh Mohamed from BAKWATA emphasized the rights afforded to women in the name of Islam compared to customary law, telling us that:

Unlike Islamic law that already provides rights for women to own land, customary law tends to discriminate against women in owning land. Thus, there is no any clash between the GLTF demands and Islamic law (interview 15<sup>th</sup> August, 2009).

In addition, as noted above, Muslim law provides for one eighth of the property of a deceased husband to be inherited by a widow or divorcee with children, and a quarter of a property if the couple has no children, although in practice, it has been difficult for women to get their due share.

Becker's research shows that even in Muslim communities in south eastern Tanzania, customary law is frequently used, and the outcomes of disputes have for many years been

...arrived at through negotiations in which both Muslim and non-Muslim rules could be evoked, but legal rights, however defined, mattered little if their holders were too young, too old, too far away, or too weak – educationally, financially, socially – to claim them. It was not so much legal practice that was changing as the domestic balance of power in



which legal rules were but one element. That this power balance turned to the disadvantage of wives within households and maternal uncles within lineages is, nevertheless, clear (Becker, 2008, p. 152).

Her informants explained that the rules to be applied (including Muslim rules) are often negotiated through gatherings of those concerned held within two months of a death, usually to avoid ill feeling and perceived injustice (for example including illegitimate children in the distribution of inherited property or according equal shares to sons and daughters), to the dismay of local *shehe* (scholars) and Muslim reformists (Becker, 2008). Subira Mohammed also argued that, in most cases, "*Muslim sheikhs do not follow what the Holy Quran requires them to do*" (interview with Subira Mohammed, 23<sup>rd</sup> September, 2009). This view is shared by the legal officer of the Legal and Human Rights Centre (LHRC) who said that:

A majority of cases in [our] legal clinics involve women (as widows and divorcees) claiming for rights to inherit land and other property and a good number of them are Muslim women in polygamous marriages...If religious organizations gave proper services to their followers, we would not have many women coming to us resolving inheritance disputes (interview with Gloria Mafole, 25<sup>th</sup> Sept. 2009).

However, there was also a strategic reason for leaving Islamic law alone, as the executive director of WLAC told us:

Our movement did not engage directly with religious issues. We knew from the beginning that if we condemned religion, we were not going to get any far...Whenever you are dealing with legal matters concerning people's lives, do not touch their religious beliefs. You will not achieve the intended objectives (interview, 14<sup>th</sup> August, 2009).

There was a strong sense from our respondents that there was a need for 'neutrality' in religious matters in order to keep the women's movement united and as a result, according to Thabitha Siwale, executive director of WAT, *"we decided to be neutral so that not to get into trouble with religious organizations"* (interview 21<sup>st</sup> August, 2009). Moreover, the women's land rights movement included organizations whose members belong to different religions and the religious values of individual members did not seem to pose an obstacle to the demands of the struggle. For instance, while some members of the campaign were Christian and therefore believed in monogamous marriage, the women's land rights movement made a collective demand to ensure that the rights of all wives in polygamous marriages (whether Muslim or not) to own land would be protected by joint ownership



certificates, and in requiring the consent of all legal wives to the disposal of the matrimonial house or any land. Thus, in their aim to remain neutral the movement found ways of negotiating and accommodating diverse religio-cultural needs, rather than adopting a monolithic approach. As Ananilea Nkya, executive director of TAMWA said:

We were very strategic not to offend some of our members who were in a polygamous marriage themselves. We needed unity. Hence, we said, we were defending interests of women, regardless of their religions, to own and control land. For instance, we did not say that polygamous marriage is bad but rather we said all legal wives must consent to the disposition of the matrimonial home or land (interview, Ananilea Nkya, 18<sup>th</sup> September, 2009).

This desire to remain neutral and representative therefore shaped the extent to which women used religious discourse to underpin their arguments and strategies. Moreover, the particular religious background of women did not seem to be a direct influence on their motivations to engage with the land rights issue. Although, as Prof. Marjorie Mbilinyi said, during the struggle we "*never engaged in any religious discourse at all*" (interview, 18<sup>th</sup> Sept. 2009), those involved were nevertheless sensitive to the diverse backgrounds from which women come.



# 5 The struggle for women's land rights and its outcomes

The women's land rights movement was ultimately successful in their campaign and the government incorporated significant recommendations proposed by the GLTF in the legislation. In particular, the right of every woman to acquire, hold, use and deal with land is provided in both the Land Act no. 4 of 1999 and the Village Land Act no. 5 of 1999: "...to the same extent and subject to the same restrictions as the right of any man." Moreover, the Land Act overrides customary law if the latter denies women, children or persons with disabilities their right to use, transfer and own land and "the Village Land Act also protects women against [discriminatory] customs and traditions" (Komba, 2009), providing under section 20(2) that any rule of customary land law is void and inoperative to the extent that "it denies women, children or persons with disability lawful access to ownership, occupation or use of any such land" (Lugoe, 2007, p 17).

On the acquisition of land rights, both acts contain gender-neutral provisions that give men and women equal entitlement to a right of occupancy, either a granted right over a piece of general land (through, for example, allocation or purchase) or a customary right. Section 23(3) of the Village Land Act for instance states that:

In determining whether to grant a customary right of occupancy, the village council shall "have special regard in respect of the equality of all persons, such as: that an application from a woman, or group of women [shall be treated] no less favourably than an equivalent application from a man, a group of men or a mixed group of men and women" (Lugoe, 2007, p 17).<sup>16</sup>

Women's rights of co-occupancy are also protected. Thus if a spouse obtains a right of occupancy, the Registrar of Titles is required to register both (or all) spouses as occupiers in common, which means that disposal of the land cannot occur without the consent of each occupier, who is entitled to a share (Lugoe, 2007, p 17; Myenzi, 2009, p 21). Furthermore, special provisions have been made with respect to a mortgage on a matrimonial home, to protect spouses from the risk of default and the possibility of becoming homeless. Thus, "Section 112 of the Land Act ...requires the consent of all the spouses before a matrimonial home is subjected to mortgage" (Myenzi, 2009, p 19).

In general, therefore, the Land Act and the Village Land Act are complementary, as they both address land rights with an eye on gender equality. However, ambiguities remain, not least that the Customary Law (Declaration) Order (No. 4), GN No. 436 of 1963, has not been repealed, even though it contains



discriminatory rules against daughters and widows with respect to land use and inheritance. Despite the fact that district councils have a mandate law to review customs in the Customary Law Order no 436 every five years, this has not usually been done. Even the judges have been reluctant to declare the discriminatory customary law on inheritance unconstitutional (interview with Prof. Kabudi, 17th April 2010). Efforts to get the Order repealed were made by the GLTF without success. Thabitha Siwale, former MP and a member of the GLTF referred to the Order as being "*an insult to women and it has been quite a tough battle get it repealed*" (interview 21st August, 2009).

Some campaigners believe that, given the problems associated with customary land tenure law, it should be abolished rather than reformed. For example, the Director of WLAC said "*we need to continue fighting for the abolition of [the] customary land tenure system*" (interview 14 August 1999, DSM). Recently, under the coordination of WILDAF, a few CSOs, including WLAC, have come together and formed a "task force for the abolition of Customary Law of 1963" (WLAC, 2007, p 9). Other CSOs involved include LHRC and TAHEA (WILDAF, 2008, p 1).

In addition, the implementation of the 1999 legislation needs to be monitored and assessed with respect to its effects on women's access to land in different parts of the country. Although the women's land rights movement felt that it had succeeded in obtaining real improvements to the 1999 legislation, progress with implementation of what is an extremely complex and bureaucratic system has been very slow. In addition, what information is available on the implementation of the Acts indicates that it has not had the desired effects, since the majority of women in rural areas are not informed of their legal rights and therefore do not take advantage of the law (WLAC, 2004). According to a needs assessment study done in 2004 in four regions of Tanzania by WLAC, WAT, LHRC and TAWLA, it was found out that "for most participants who attended the training workshops and seminars, it was the first time to hear about the enactment of the land Acts" (ibid). Haki Ardhi continues to hold an annual National Land Forum that brings together different organizations to discuss and deliberate on issues of land and natural resources, including minerals (interview with Haki Ardhi Programme Officer, 7<sup>th</sup> June 2010). However, it is reported that mobilizing organizations that were members of the GLTF prior to 1999 to collaborate has not been an easy task, apparently because each organization has become preoccupied with the implementation of its own activities.



## 6 Conclusions

The campaign to improve the proposed Land Acts in Tanzania, among other things to adequately address women's concerns, achieved what Schumaker (1975) calls 'access responsiveness', in which decision-makers are willing to listen to the demands of a group. In addition, the women's land rights movement achieved 'policy responsiveness', by getting some of their recommendations into the legislation. However, it is yet to achieve two further levels of responsiveness, namely, 'output responsiveness,' which requires that measures are taken to ensure that legislation is enforced, and 'impact responsiveness', which is achieved if the underlying grievance is actually alleviated (Schumaker, 1975, p 494-5).

This study adds to earlier work on the strategy and tactics of the women's movement (e.g. Mallya, 2005) by helping us to understand the engagement between social movements and religion in the pursuit of social change for development. Firstly, in the case of the women's struggle for land rights in Tanzania through a campaign to improve proposed legislation in the 1990s, religious organizations acted as facilitators rather than obstacles to the land rights movement. However, given the nature of Tanzania's political system, it was not possible for them to be overt 'members' of the women's land rights movement. Nonetheless, they did support and publicize its goals as informal 'partners'. Second, the movement was secular in the sense that it did not itself invoke religious teachings and values, nor did individual members state that religious values and practices influenced their involvement or inspired their arguments and strategies. As almost everyone in Tanzania regards themselves as either Christian or Muslim, most of the individual women activists were members of a faith tradition. However, they did not consider their religion relevant to their involvement in the land rights movement. Indeed, our respondents drew attention to the importance of the movement remaining 'neutral' with respect to religion, in order not to alienate women from different religions and also because religion is a politically sensitive issue in Tanzania. Instead, the movement was largely guided by a legalistic, human rights-based approach and the struggle confined itself to the issue of gender equality with respect to women's rights to land, especially land held under customary tenure arrangements. It focused on safeguarding women's rights by improving draft legislation, rather than engaging with culturally and politically sensitive issues around gender relations or religion. It appears that the Tanzanian context is not conducive to overt engagement with Christian or Muslim organizations by social movements, or of critical engagement with religion where it is perceived to block social development. This contrasts with social movement activity in other contexts (for example, Nigeria, see Adamu et al, 2011; Para-Mallam et al, 2011).



The land rights struggles in Tanzania have demonstrated that changing discriminatory customary land tenure systems is a complicated process. Despite demands by some for the abolition of customary land tenure, it is still the prevalent tenure system in rural Tanzania and the attempt to codify it in the Customary Law (Declaration) Order no. 436 of 1963 is still used by the courts. Traditional law and practices are considered to place women at a disadvantage, and changes in agricultural production and social relations have often worsened their position further. The struggle for women's land rights in Tanzania did not take place in a vacuum, but was shaped by politics, culture and religion, and is therefore to be understood as an outcome of processes of negotiations (Manji, 1996; Odgaard, 2005). In addition, in negotiating for women's land rights, the women's movement attempted to maintain a delicate balance between women's land rights, the state and religion. On the one hand, the movement mobilized the support of religious organizations in raising awareness of the Land Bill amongst their members. On the other hand, however, it took a cautious approach by not challenging religious beliefs and teachings relevant to women's rights to land. Instead, the movement directed its demands towards reforming customary land tenure law and the governance arrangements for decision making with respect to land, which it sees as undermining women's rights to own, control and use land.

In addition to not addressing any perceived injustices arising from the principles or practice of the law on land and inheritance in Islam, activists did not identify any links between customary law and practice and African traditional religious beliefs and practices. Our respondents, when asked whether their movement was underpinned by 'religious' values and whether they consider that customary law is 'religious', replied in the negative because of a conception that the category 'religion' does not include traditional beliefs and practices, which they regard as custom and culture. Evidence from other studies demonstrates that a majority of Tanzanians do, alongside adherence to Christianity or Islam, hold one or more beliefs and/or engage in practices associated with what is understood elsewhere as African traditional religion. The category 'religion' is understood by most contemporary Tanzanians to mean one of the world religions, although many mix traditional beliefs and practices with those of Christianity or Islam. At present, limited progress been made with implementing the 1999 Land Acts and systematic evidence of the effects of what implementation has occurred on women's access to land in different parts of Tanzania appears to be lacking. Nor is it clear whether rural men and women whose land rights are governed by the rules and practices of customary tenure have similar views of the legislation, its implementation and traditional religion to the educated activists involved in the 1990s campaign. All these matters are subjects for further research.



## Appendix 1

#### List of interviews

- 1. Salma Moulid, Executive Director, Sahiba Sisters, 10th June 2008
- Prof. Marjorie Mbilinyi, Coordinator, Research and Publications, TGNP, 11<sup>th</sup> June 2008, 25<sup>th</sup> September, 2009
- 3. Mary Rusimbi, former Executive Director, TGNP, 2<sup>nd</sup> July 2008
- 4. Prof. Ruth Meena, Member, TGNP, 25<sup>th</sup> July 2008
- Scholastica Jullu, Executive Director, The Women's Legal Aid Center (WLAC), 15<sup>th</sup> July 2008, 14<sup>th</sup> August 2009
- 6. Maria Shaba, Member, Tanzania Gender Networking Programme (TGNP), 16<sup>th</sup> July 2008
- Sheikh Mohamed Hamis Said, Deputy Secretary on Religious Issues, Muslim Council of Tanzania (BAKWATA), 15<sup>th</sup> August, 2009
- AnnMarie Mavinjina, Executive Director, Tanzania Women's Lawyers Association (TAWLA), 18<sup>th</sup> August 2009
- Hilda Stuart, Principal Researcher, Tanzania Women's Lawyers Association (TAWLA), 18th August 2009
- 10. Thabitha Siwale, Executive Director, Women's Advancement Trust (WAT), 21st August 2009
- 11. Benard Baha, Programme Officer, Institute for Land Rights (HAKIARDHI), 28th August 2009
- 12. Robert Charles, Deputy Secretary Social Services, Evangelical Lutheran Church of Tanzania, ELCT, 29<sup>th</sup> August 2009
- John Chikomo, Executive Director, Journalism Environmental Association of Tanzania (JET), 29<sup>th</sup> August 2009
- 14. A.Msangi, Executive Director, Tanzania Home Economics Association (TAHEA), 3rd September, 2009
- Ananilea Nkya, Executive Director, Tanzania Media Women Association (TAMWA), 25<sup>th</sup> September, 2009
- 16. Subira Mohammed, Member, Sahiba Sisters, 23<sup>RD</sup> September 2009
- 17. Jane Mrema, Coordinator CARITAS, Gender Desk, 25th September 2009
- 18. Dr. Ngwanza Kamata, former Executive Director, HAKIARDHI, 17th July 2008



### Notes

- <sup>1</sup> The land for which the President of Tanzania holds radical title is divided into three categories: general land (including unused village land, on which rights of occupancy can be granted), reserve land (land set aside for national parks, forests, roads, utilities etc) and village land. The government can transfer land from one category to another. The 1999 legislation, which repeals eleven existing Acts and amends others, was at one point intended to be a single Act but because of its length was divided into two, the Land Act dealing with general and reserve land and the Village Land Act dealing with village land (Palmer, 1999; Sundet, 2005).
- <sup>2</sup> Tanzania's statutory law is based on English common law, so in addition to the legislation itself, the courts play a major role in interpreting laws and their judgements contribute to the creation of law.
- <sup>3</sup> I n cases of inheritance, for Islamic law to be applied, three conditions must be established by a court: "it must be shown that the deceased was a Muslim, that he or she had left oral or written instructions that Islamic law should govern the distribution of the estate, and that the person lived in a way that demonstrated an intent that the estate be divided according to Islamic prescriptions" (Legalbrief Africa, 2004). In practice, marriage, land and inheritance amongst Muslims may be governed by customary or statutory law rather than Muslim law. There is no separate body of law governing Christians' personal status.
- <sup>4</sup> This can include the allocation of land by a man while still alive, as well as inheritance after death. Most groups in Tanzania are patrilineal, with inheritance passing from father to son. However, there are also matrilineal groups (about 20 per cent of the population), which were often uxorilocal (husbands move to live with their wives' families), and in which heirs are a man's uterine brothers and his sister's sons (Rwebangira, 1996).
- <sup>5</sup> At independence, Tanganyika had seven political parties including the Tanganyika African National Union (TANU), the United Tanganyika Party (UTP), African National Congress (ANC), the All-Muslim National Union of Tanganyika (AMNUT), the Tanganyika Federal Independence Party (TFIP), People Democratic Party (PDC), Peoples Convention Party (PCP) and the National Enterprise Party (NEP)
- <sup>6</sup> Although Kadhi courts were retained in Zanzibar.
- <sup>7</sup> The concept of radical title has its roots in the feudal history of England, where it was stated that " every acre of land in the country was held of the King" (Shivji, 1998, p 73)
- <sup>8</sup> For details on land disputes in Tanzania, see Shivji (2002); Odgaard (2002); Kironde (2009).
- <sup>9</sup> For further information in women's movements in Africa see Tripp (2001a) and McFadden, 1997.
- <sup>10</sup> The 'radical title' empowers the President to acquire any portion of land in the 'public interest'.
- <sup>11</sup> Many of those analysts who do refer to women's rights over land do not distinguish between women in different social positions in relation to others, for example, as daughters, wives, divorcees, widows etc. Their analysis is often over-simplified, in contrast to the picture portrayed by anthropologists and historians who have studied particular regions or ethnic groups in depth.
- <sup>12</sup> One example of such a case follows. In the WLAC para-legal centre in Arusha, one case involved Ms. Nai Losululu Meriki, aged 54 years, with five children born out of wedlock. Ms Nai lived with her old parents and cared for and nursed them when they were sick, until they died. The parents left behind a farm and a 24-roomed house. Nai's only brother never maintained contact with the parents but upon their death, he came to claim sole ownership of the property, as he was the only son. He evicted Nai and her children from the house. Nai went to local, regional and religious leaders to plead her case but this was in vain. The brother refused to give Nai even a room to live in. Nai then approached the WLAC para-legal centre in Arusha, which was able to convince the brother to settle out of court and provide Nai with a room in which to stay and other rooms for renting out. Nai and the brother signed an agreement before village and religious leaders (WLAC, 2007, p 22)



- <sup>13</sup> The position paper presented by the GLTF to a meeting of the National Land forum in 1998 appeared to call for the abolition of customary tenure, but Tsikata (2001, p 21) notes that an interviewee clarified that their call was for the discriminatory aspects of customary tenure practices to be reformed.
- <sup>14</sup> As the leading organization for NALAF, Haki Ardhi has a collection of files comprised of information on the activities and communications of the movement during the struggle e.g. letters, memos and publicity materials. It is this collection of documents that is referred as the Haki Ardhi-NALAF database.
- <sup>15</sup> This may be partly due to the manner in which these religious organizations are organized. The ELCT and CCT operate in a decentralized way, which enables individual dioceses to get involved in various activities with minimal control from the headquarters/centre. In contrast, the TEC of the Catholic Church seems to operate with a strict hierarchical structure managed from the centre. The Muslim Council of Tanzania (BAKWATA) also operates in a structure in which the centre/headquarters exercizes considerable control over the regional and district offices.
- <sup>16</sup> Some critics believe that the Act should have provided for all land to be registered and certificates of occupancy issued to all those with occupancy rights on a village by village basis, rather than introducing an intermediate system of certificates of customary occupancy for land currently occupied by virtue of customary rights. They believe that, despite the legal provision, the process of applying for certificates of customary occupancy will favour the more prosperous and powerful rather than protecting the rights of all the poor, as the latter will not have the resources needed to tackle the bureaucratic process (see, for example, Sundet, 2005).



#### References

- Adamu, F., Para-Mallam, O.J., Ajala, A.O. and Lanre-Abass, B. (2011) *the Engagement of Women's Movements with Religion: Legal Reform in Anambra State*. Birmingham: Religions and Development Working Paper 60.
- Becker, F. (2008) *Becoming Muslim in Mainland Tanzania, 1890-2000*. Oxford: Oxford University Press for the British Academy.
- Brown, Andrea (2001) Democratization and the Tanzanian state: emerging opportunities for achieving women's empowerment. *Canadian Journal of African Studies*, 35(1), pp. 67-98.
- Campbell, John (1999) Nationalism, ethnicity and religion: fundamental conflicts and the politics of identity in Tanzania. *Nations and Nationalism*, 5(1), pp. 105-125.
- Carr, E. (2003) Community and Land Attachment of Chagga Women on Mount Kilimanjaro, Tanzania. Unpublished MSc thesis, Brigham Young University (http://www.contentdm.lib.byu.edu/ETD/ image/etd424.pdf).
- Chale, F. and Ubwe, R. (1999) *Women and Land Rights: Gain by the Gender Task Force on Land Bill; A Brief Report*, Dar es Salaam: Tanzania Home Economics Association (TAHEA).
- Calaguas, M.J., Drost C.M. and Fluet, E.R. (2007) Legal pluralism and women's rights: a study in postcolonial Tanzania. *Columbia Journal of Gender and Law*, 16(2), pp 471-549.
- Coldham, S. (1995) Land tenure reform in Tanzania: legal problems and perspectives. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*: 33(2), pp. 227-242.
- Diani, M. and Bison, I. (2004) Organizations, coalitions, and movements. *Theory and Society*, 33(3/4), pp. 281-309.
- Fimbo, M.G. (1992) Essays in Land Law in Tanzania. Dar es Salaam: Dar es Salaam University Press.
- Geiger, S. (1987) Women in nationalist struggle: TANU activists in Dar-es-Salaam. *International Journal of African Historical Studies*, 20(1), pp. 1-26.
- GLTF (1998) GLTF Demands for Women's Land Rights. Dar es Salaam: Gender Land Task Force. Unpublished report
- Haki Ardhi (2009) 'Women's Land Rights: The Case of the General and Village Acts 1998', Dar es Salaam, Unpublished Report.
- Heilman, B. and Kaiser, P. (2002) Religion, identity and oolitics in Tanzania. *Third World Quarterly*, 23(4) pp. 691-709.
- Ikdahl, I., Hellum, A., Kaarhus, R., Benjaminsen, T.A. and Kameri-Mbote, P. (2005) Human Rights, Formalisation and Women's Land Rights in Southern and Eastern Africa. Oslo: University of Oslo, Institute of Women's Law, Studies in Women's Law No.57 (http://www.tzonline.org/pdf/ humanrightsformalisationandwomenslandrightsinsouthernand.pdf).
- Ishumi, A. (2006) Access to and equity in education in Tanzania. In R. Mukandala et al (eds) *Justice, Rights and Worship: Religion and Politics in Tanzania,* Dar-es-Salaam: E & D Limited publishers.
- James, R.W. and Fimbo, G.M. (1973) *Customary Land Law in Tanzania: A Source Book,* Nairobi: East African Literature Bureau.
- Kameri-Mbote, P. (1992) *African Women as Environmental Managers*. Nairobi: African Centre for Technology Studies.
- Kameri-Mbote, P. (2006) Gender issues in land tenure under customary law. In Land Rights for Africa: From Knowledge to Action, Washington DC: CAPRi (CGIAR system-wide program on Collective Action and Property Rights), UNDP and the International Land coalition, pp. 11-13 www.capri.cgiar.org/wp/..%5Cbrief\_land.pdf
- Kauzeni, A.S., Shechambo, F.C. and Juma, I. (1998) Private and communal property ownership regimes in Tanzania. *Land Reform*, 1, pp. 70-80 http://www.fao.org/docrep/w8101t/w8101t06.htm
- Kayode, J.O and Adelowo, E.D (1985) Religions in Nigeria. In Olaniyan, R (Ed) *Nigerian History and Culture*, Ibadan: Longman.



- Kirmani, Nida (2008) The Relationships between Social Movements and Religion in Processes of Social Change: A Preliminary Literature Review, Birmingham: Religions and Development Working Paper 23 (www.dfid.gov.uk/r4d/PDF/Outputs/ReligionDev\_RPC/WP23.pdf).
- Kironde, L. (2009) Improving Land Sector Governance in Africa: The Case of Tanzania, A paper presented in a conference on Land Governance in support of the MDGs, Washington DC, March 2010.
- Koda, B. (1998) Changing land tenure systems in the contemporary matrilineal social system: the gendered dimension. In Seppälä, P. and B. Koda (Eds) *The Making of a Periphery*. Uppsala: Nordic Africa Institute, Seminar Proceedings No. 32, pp. 195-221.
- Komba, A. (2009) Women land rights. *Daily News* online edition, Thursday November 4<sup>th</sup> (http://www.dailynews.co.tz/feature/?n=610&cat=feature).
- Koponen, J. (1991) Agricultural systems in late pre-colonial Tanzania. In Mörner, M. and Svensson, T. (Eds) *The Transformation of Rural Society in the Third World*, London: Routledge, pp. 189-216.
- KWIECO (2005) Research Report on Tanzania Women and Access to Law. Moshi: Kilimanjaro Women Information Exchange and Consultancy Organisation, Unpublished Report.
- Lawi, Y.Q. and Masanja, P. (2006) African traditional religions in Tanzania: essence, practice, and the encounter with modernization. In Mukandala, R. S., S. Yahya-Othman, S. S. Mushi and L. Ndumbaro (Eds) *Justice, Rights and Worship: Religion and Politics in Tanzania,* Dar-es-Salaam: E & D Limited, pp. 73-96.
- Legalbrief Africa (2004) Customary and Islamic law and its future development in Tanzania. *Legalbrief Africa*, 107, (http://www.legalbrief.co.za/article.php?story=20041128143334824)
- Leurs, R., Tumaini-Mungu, P. and Mvungi, A. (2011) *The Contribution of Faith Based Organizations* (FBOs) to Development in Tanzania, Birmingham: Religions and Development Working Paper 58.
- Lugoe, F.N. (2007) Tanzania's Experience with Land Administration and Land Policy Reforms in a Historical Setting. Review Paper No. 7 (initially prepared for the CBU/CASLE/AfRES Conference on Sustainable Human Settlements held in Livingstone, Zambia from 2 5 May 2007).
- Lugoe, F.N. (2008) A Century of Government Regulated Land Access in Tanzania. Paper for the Workshop on Land Administration in Africa, 12-15 May http://www.dilaps.or.tz/
- DILAPS%20Downloads/Land%20Regulation%20in%20Tanzania-100%20Years%20Plus.pdf Makaramba, R. (2006) Religion, rule of law and justice in Tanzania. In Mukandala, R. S., S. Yahya-Othman, S. S. Mushi and L. Ndumbaro (Eds) *Justice, Rights and Worship: Religion and Politics in Tanzania*, Dar-es-Salaam: E & D Limited, pp. 360-94.
- Mallya, E. (2005) Women NGOs and the policy process in Tanzania: the case of the Land Act of 1999. *African Study Monographs*, 26(1), pp. 183-200.
- Manji, A. (1996) The case for women's rights to land in Tanzania: some observations in the context of AIDS", UTAFITI, 3(3), pp. 11-38.
- Manji, A. (1998) Gender and the politics of the land reform process in Tanzania. *Journal of Modern African Studies*, 36(4), pp. 645-667.
- Manji, A. (2001) Land reform in the shadow of the state: implementing new land laws in Sub-saharan Africa. *Third World Quarterly*, 22(3), pp. 327-342
- Maoulidi, S (2006) *Critical Analysis of the Land Laws in Tanzania*. Land Rights Research Institute (HAKIARDHI), Dar es Salaam http://www.hakiardhi.org/HA-Docs/

THE%20GENDER%20DIMENSION%20OF%20TANZANIA%20LAND%20LAWS%20By%20Salma%20Moulid.pdf

Masanja, P. and Lawi, Y.Q. (2006) African traditional religions in contemporary Tanzanian society. In Mukandala, R. S., S. Yahya-Othman, S. S. Mushi and L. Ndumbaro (Eds) *Justice, Rights and Worship: Religion and Politics in Tanzania,* Dar-es-Salaam: E & D Limited, pp. 97-113.



Mbilinyi, M. (1972) The 'new women' and traditional norms in Tanzania. *Journal of Modern African Studies*, 10(1), pp. 57-72.

Mbiti, J.S. (1969) African Philosophy and Religions. London: Heinemann.

- McFadden, P. (1997) The challenges and prospects for the African women's movement in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *Women in Action*, 1. www.hartford-hwp.com/archives/30/152.html
- Mckie, K. (2007) The Process of Donor Funding as the Cause of Movement Demobilisation: A Case Study of the Barabaig Land Rights Movement in Tanzania, unpublished paper.
- Meena, R. (1989) Crisis and structural adjustment: Tanzanian women's politics, *Journal of Opinion*, 17(2), pp. 29-31.
- Mhina, A. (2007) State-religion relationships and religious views on development policies. In Mhina, A. (Ed) *Religions and Development in Tanzania: A Preliminary Literature Review*. Birmingham: Religions and Development Working Paper 11, pp. 6-16.
- Mhina, A. (2006) African traditional religions and politics in Tanzania. In Mukandala, R. S., S. Yahya-Othman, S. S. Mushi and L. Ndumbaro (Eds) *Justice, Rights and Worship: Religion and Politics in Tanzania,* Dar-es-Salaam: E & D Limited, pp.114-27.
- Molyneux, M. (1989) Analyzing women's movements. *Development and Change*, 29(2), pp. 219-245.
- Mosha, A. (2005) Coalitions and How They Work: The Case of FemAct. Dar es Salaam, Unpublished paper.
- Mukandala, R.S. (2006) Introduction. In Mukandala, R. S., S. Yahya-Othman, S. S. Mushi and L.
  Ndumbaro (Eds) *Justice, Rights and Worship: Religion and Politics in Tanzania,* Dar-es-Salaam: E & D Limited, pp. 1-17.
- Myenzi, Y. (2009) Women and Land Rights in Tanzania. A paper prepared for presentation at the workshop organized by Mzumbe University DSM Campus on 10<sup>th</sup> (http://www.hakiardhi.org/HA-Docs/women.pdf).
- NALAF (1999) Report of the National Land Forum, Dar es Salaam, Unpublished report.
- Neumann, R. (2006) Local challenges to global agendas: conservation, economic liberalization and the pastoralists' rights movements in Tanzania. *Antipode*, 27(4), pp. 363-382.
- Nyanduga, B. T. and C. Manning (2006) *Guide to Tanzanian Legal System and Legal Research* (http://www.nyulawglobal.org/globalex/Tanzania.htm#\_Customary\_and\_Islamic\_Law)
- Odhiambo, M.O. (2002) Advocating for Land Policy Reforms in Kenya, Uganda and Tanzania: NGO Lessons and Prospects. Paper presented to the second workshop of the Pan-African Programme on Land and Resources Rights, Lagos, Nigeria, 15-16 July http://www.land-in-uganda.org/ assets/PAPLRR-Lagos-Paper-Odhiambo-2002.pdf
- Odgaard, R. (2002) Scrambling for land in Tanzania: processes of formalisation and legitimisation of land rights. *The European Journal of Development Research* 14(2), pp. 71–88.
- Odgaard, R. (2005) The struggle for land rights in the context of multiple normative orders in Tanzania. In Evers, S., Spierenburg, M. and Wels, H. (Eds) *Competing Jurisdictions: Settling Land Claims in Africa*, Leiden: Brill, pp. 243-64.

Palmer, R. (1999) The Tanzanian Land Acts, 1999: An Analysis of the Analyses. Oxford: Oxfam.

- Para-Mallam, O.J., Lanre-Abass, B., Adamu, F. and Ajala, A.O. (2011) *The Role of Religion in Women's Movements: The Campaign for the Domestication of CEDAW in Nigeria.* Birmingham: Religions and Development Working Paper 59.
- Pew Forum (2010) Tolerance and Tension: Islam and Christianity in Sub-Saharan Africa. Washington DC: Pew Forum on Religion and Public Life.
- Rwebangira, M.K. (1996) *The Legal Status of Women and Poverty in Tanzania.* Uppsala: Nordic Africa Institute, Research Report 100.



- Rwezaura, B. (1995) Tanzania: building a new family law out of a plural legal system. *University of Louisville Journal of Family Law,* 33, pp. 523-40.
- Schumaker, P. (1975) Policy responsiveness to protest group demands. *Journal of Politics*, 37, pp. 488-521.
- Shivji, I. (1994) A Legal Quagmire: Tanzania's Regulation of Land Tenure (Establishment of Villages) Act, 1992. London: International Institute for Environment and Development, Pastoral Land Tenure Series No. 5.
- Shivji, I. (1998) Not Yet Democracy: Reforming Land Tenure in Tanzania, London and Dar es Salaam: International Institute for Environment and Development, Haki Ardhi and Faculty of Law, University of Dar es Salaam.
- Shivji, I. (1999) Protection of Peasants and Pastoral rights in Land: A Brief review of the bills for the Land Act, 1998 and the Village Land Act, 1998. Paper presented to the Parliamentary Committee for Finance and Economic Affairs on the Bills for the Land Acts, Dodoma, 26<sup>th</sup> -28<sup>th</sup> January 1999.
- Shivji, I. (2002) Contradictory perspectives on rights and justice in the context of land tenure reform in Tanzania. In Naim, A.A (Ed) *Cultural Transformation and Human Rights in Africa*, London: Zed, pp. 192-217.
- Sundet, G. (2005) The 1999 Land Act and Village Land Act: A Technical Analysis of the Practical Implications of the Acts. Unpublished paper.
- Tambila, K.I. (2006) Intra-Muslim conflicts in Tanzania. In Mukandala, R. S., S. Yahya-Othman, S. S. Mushi and L. Ndumbaro (Eds) *Justice, Rights and Worship: Religion and Politics in Tanzania*, Dares-Salaam: E & D Limited, pp. 165-88.
- Tenga, N. and Maina, P.C. (1996) The right to organize as mother of all rights: the experience of women in Tanzania. *Journal of Modern Africa Studies*, 34(1), pp. 143-162.
- Tripp, A.M. (2000) Political reform in Tanzania: the struggle for associational autonomy. *Comparative Politics*, 32(2), 191-214 http://www.ssrnetwork.net/uploaded\_files/4354.pdf
- Tripp, Mari A (2001a) Women's movements and challenges to neopatrimonial rule: preliminary observations from Africa. *Development and Change*, 32, pp. 33-54
- Tripp, Mari, A (2001b) The politics of autonomy and cooptation in Africa: the case of the Ugandan women's movement. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, 39(1), pp. 101-128.
- Tripp, A. M. (2004) Women's movements, customary law, and land rights in Africa: the case of Uganda. *African Studies Quarterly*, 7, p.1-19
- Tsikata, D (2001) Land Tenure Reforms and Women's Land Rights: Recent Debates in Tanzania, Geneva: UNRISD project on Agrarian Change, Gender and Land Rights.
- Tsikata, D. (2003) Securing women's interests within land tenure reforms: recent debates in Tanzania. *Journal of Agrarian Change*, 3(1-2), pp. 149–183.
- URT (1963) Customary Law (Declaration) Order No. 436 of 1963
- URT (1967) Land Acquisition Act of 1967
- URT (1975) Village and Ujamaa Villages Act of 1975
- URT (1977) The Constitution of the United Republic of Tanzania
- URT (1994) Report of the Presidential Commission of Inquiry into Land Matters, Vol. 1, Land Policy and Land Tenure Structure. Dar es Salaam: The United Republic of Tanzania, Ministry of Lands, Housing and Urban Development and the Scandinavian Institute for African Studies (first issued by the President's Office, 1992).
- URT (1997, 1<sup>st</sup> ed 1995) *National Land Policy*. Dar es Salaam: The United Republic of Tanzania, Ministry of Lands and Human Settlements Development http://www.tzonline.org/pdf/ nationallandpolicy.pdf

URT (1999) The Land Act no. 4 of 1999



#### URT (1999) The Village Land Act no. 5 of 1999

- URT (2002) *Household Budget Survey 2000/01.* Dar es Salaam: The United Republic of Tanzania, National Bureau of Statistics Tanzania http://www.scribd.com/doc/28082760/Tanzania-HBS-2001-Report
- WILDAF (2008) Rasimu ya Muswada wa Sheria ya Mirathi Kwa Mtazamo wa Mashirika Yasiyo ya Kiserikali, unpublished report.
- WLAC (Women's Legal Aid Centre) (2004) Women Land and Property Rights, Report on Facts and Lessons Learnt from the Ground. Dar es Salaam: WLAC.
- WLAC (Women's Legal Aid Centre) (2007) Access to Justice through Paralegal Work, Annual Report 2007.
- Yngstrom, I. (2002) Women, wives and land rights in Africa: situating gender beyond the household in the debate over land policy and changing tenure systems. *Oxford Development Studies*, 30(1), pp. 21-39.



## Religions and Development Working Papers

1	Shah, R., Larbi, G. and Batley, R. <i>Religion and Public Management Literature</i> <i>Review</i>	2007
2	Nkurunziza, E. An Overview of Development Studies: Background Paper for the Religions and Development Research Programme	2007
3	Jackson, P. and Fleischer, C. Religion and Economics: A Literature Review	2007
4	Tomalin, E. Sociology, Religion and Development: Literature Review	2007
5	Bradley, T. The Relationships Between Religion and Development: Views	2007
U	from Anthropology	2007
6		2007
6	Tomalin, E. Religious Studies and Development: A Literature Review	
7	Alhassan Alolo, N., Singh, G. and Marquette, H. Political Science, Religion and	2007
•	Development: A Literature Review	<del>-</del>
8	Tomalin, E. Gender Studies Approaches to the Relationships between	2007
	Religion and Development	
9	Rakodi, C. Understanding the Roles of Religions in Development: The	2007
	Approach of the RaD Programme	
10	Religions and Development Research Programme, University of Birmingham.	2008
	(Editors) India: Some Reviews of Literature Related to Religions and	
	Development	
11	Mhina, A. (Editor) Religions and Development in Tanzania: A Preliminary	2007
	Literature Review	
12	Bano, M. with Nair, P. Faith-based Organisations in South Asia: Historical	2007
	Evolution, Current Status and Nature of Interaction with the State	200.
13	Bano, M. Allowing for Diversity: State-Madrasa Relations in Bangladesh	2008
14	Bano, M. Contesting Ideologies and Struggle for Authority: State-Madrasa	2008
14	Engagement in Pakistan	2000
15		2009
15	Nair, P. The State and Madrasas in India	
16	Kim, K. Concepts of Development in the Christian Traditions: A Religions and Development Background Paper	2007
17	Alhassan Alolo, A. African Traditional Religions and Concepts of	2007
	Development: A Background Paper	
18	Tomalin, E. Buddhism and Development: A Background Paper	2007
19	Tomalin, E. Hinduism and International Development: Religions and	2009
	Development Background Paper	
20	Kroessin, M. R. Concepts of Development in 'Islam': A Review of	2008
	Contemporary Literature and Practice	
21	Tatla, D. S. Sikhism and Development: A Review	2008
22	Zaman, A. Islamic Economics: A Survey of the Literature	2008
23	Kirmani, N. The Relationships between Social Movements and Religion in	2008
20	Processes of Social Change: A Preliminary Literature Review	2000
24	Iqbal, M. A. and Siddiqui, S. <i>Mapping the Terrain: The Activities of Faith-based</i>	2008
27	Organisations in Development in Pakistan	2000
25	Martin, F. Psychology, Religion and Development: A Literature Review	2008
26	Mahajan, G. and Jodhka, S. S. <i>Religions, Democracy and Governance:</i>	2009
~ 7	Spaces for the Marginalized in Contemporary India	
27	Waseem, M. and Mufti, M. Religion, Politics and Governance in Pakistan	2009
28	Jodhka, S. S. and Bora, P. Mapping Faith-based Development Activities in	2009
	Contemporary Maharashtra, India	
29	Bano, M. Engaged yet Disengaged: Islamic Schools and the State in Kano,	2009
	Nigeria	
30	Kroessin, M. R. Mapping UK Muslim Development NGOs	2009
31	Roberts, F.O. N., Odumosu, O. and Nabofa, M. Religions and Development in	2009
	Nigeria: A Preliminary Literature Review	

32	White, S. C. Beyond the Paradox: Religion, Family and Modernity in Contemporary Bangladesh	2009
33	Dugbazah, J. The Relationships between Values, Religious Teaching and	2009
34	Development Concepts and Practices: A Preliminary Literature Review Bano, M. Marker of Identity: Religious Political Parties and Welfare Work - The	2009
35	Case of Jama'at-i-Islami in Pakistan and Bangladesh Kirmani, N. Beyond the Religious Impasse: Mobilizing the Muslim Women's	2009
36	Rights in India White, S. C. Domains of Contestation: Women's Empowerment and Islam in	2009
37	Bangladesh Nair, P. Religious Political Parties and their Welfare Work: Relations between	2009
38	the RSS, the Bharatiya Janata Party and the Vidya Bharati Schools in India Odumosu, O., Olaniyi, R. and Alonge, S. Mapping the Activities of	2009
39	Faith-based Organizations in Development in Nigeria Nolte, I. with Danjibo, N. and Oladeji, A. <i>Religion, Politics and Goverance in</i> <i>Nigeria</i>	2009
40	Devine, J. and White, S. Religion, Politics and the Everyday Moral Order in Bangladesh	2009
41	Marquette, H. Whither Morality? 'Finding God' in the Fight against Corruption	2010
	Marquette, H. Corruption, Religion and Moral Development	2010
42		
43	Jackson, P. Politics, Religion and the Lord's Resistance Army in Northern Uganda	2010
	Gupta, D. Elusive Peace: Seeking a 'New Normal' in Post-conflict Ahmedabad and Mumbai	2010
45	Bano, M. Female madrasas in Pakistan: a response to modernity	2010
46	Adamu, Fatima., Para-Mallam., Oluwafunmilayo, J. Adebayo, O.A. and Bolatito, L. A. A Review of Literature on the Role of Religion in Women's Movements for Social Change in Nigeria	2010
47	Jodhka, S. S. and Kumar, A. Religious Mobilizations for Development and	2010
40	Social Change: A Comparative Study of Dalit Movements in Punjab and Maharashtra, India	0040
48	Waseem, M., in association with Tahir Kamran., Ahmed Ali and K. Riikonen, Dilemmas of Pride and Pain: Sectarian Conflict and Conflict Transformation in Pakistan	2010
49	Green, M., Mercer, C. and Mesaki, S. <i>The Development Activities, Values and</i> <i>Performance of Non-governmental and Faith-based Organizations in Magu</i> <i>and Newala Districts, Tanzania</i>	2010
50	Kirmani, N. and Zaidi, S. The Role of Faith in the Charity and Development Sector in Karachi and Sindh, Pakistan	2010
51	Bradley, T. and Ramsay, Z. 'The people know they need religion in order to	2011
51	develop': The Relationships between Hindu and Buddhist Religious	2011
	Teachings, Values and Beliefs, and Visions of the Future in Pune, India.	
52	Singh, G., Simon, C. and Singh Tatla, D. New Forms of Religious	2011
JZ		2011
	Transnationalism and Development Initiatives: A Case Study of Dera Sant	
	Sarwan Dass, Ballan, Punjab, India	
53	Vinod Pavarala, V. and Malik, K. K. <i>Religions, Ethics and Attitudes towards</i>	2011
E A	Corruption: A Study of Perspectives in India	2044
54	White, S. C., Devine, J., Jha, S. and Gaines, S. <i>Religion, Development and Wellbeing in India</i>	2011
55	Singh, G. Religion, Politics and Governance in India, Pakistan, Nigeria and	2011
55	Tanzania: An Overview	2011
56	Davis, D., Jegede, A., Leurs, R., Sunmola, A. and Ukiwo, U. Comparing	2011
50	Religious and Secutor NGOs in Nigeria: Are Faith-Based Organizations	2011
	Distinctive?	

57	Killian, B. The Women's Land Rights Movement, Customary Law and Religion in Tanzania	2011
58	Leurs, R., Tumaini-Mungu, P. and Mvungi, A <i>Mapping the Development</i>	2011
	Activities of Faith-based Organizations in Tanzania	
59	J. Para-Mallam, O., Lanre-Abass, B., Adamu, F. and Ajala, A. The Role of	2011
	Religion in Women's Movements: The Campaign for the Domestication of	
	CEDAW in Nigeria	
60	Adamu, A., O. Ajala, A., J. Para-Mallam, O. and Lanre-Abass, B. Engagements	2011
	of Women's Movements with Religion: Legal Reform in Anambra State,	
	Nigeria	
61	Taylor, M. Strengthening the Voice of the Poor: Faith-based Organizations'	2011
	Engagement in Policy Consultation Processes in Nigeria and Tanzania	

#### **ORDERING PUBLICATIONS**

Publications can be obtained by either telephoning Carol Fowler on **44 (0) 121 414 4986** or Email: **c.a.fowler@bham.ac.uk** and also downloaded as a PDF file from **www.rad.bham.ac.uk**